Doctorate Program in Molecular Oncology and Endocrinology Doctorate School in Molecular Medicine

> XXVI cycle - 2010–2013 Coordinator: Prof. Massimo Santoro

"DNA methylation/ demethylation cycles in Estrogen induced transcription"

Rosaria Landi

University of Naples Federico II Dipartimento di Medicina Molecolare e Biotecnologie Mediche

Administrative Location

Dipartimento di Medicina Molecolare e Biotecnologie Mediche Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II

Partner Institutions

Italian Institutions

Università degli Studi di Napoli "Federico II", Naples, Italy Istituto di Endocrinologia ed Oncologia Sperimentale "G. Salvatore", CNR, Naples, Italy Seconda Università di Napoli, Naples, Italy Università degli Studi di Napoli "Parthenope", Naples, Italy Università degli Studi del Sannio, Benevento, Italy Università degli Studi di Genova, Genova, Italy Università degli Studi di Padova, Padova, Italy Università degli Studi di Padova, Padova, Italy Università degli Studi "Magna Graecia", Catanzaro, Italy Università degli Studi di Udine, Udine, Italy

Foreign Institutions

Université Libre de Bruxelles, Bruxelles, Belgium Universidade Federal de Sao Paulo, Brazil University of Turku, Turku, Finland Université Paris Sud XI, Paris, France University of Madras, Chennai, India University Pavol Jozef Šafàrik, Kosice, Slovakia Universidad Autonoma de Madrid, Centro de Investigaciones Oncologicas (CNIO), Spain Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA Johns Hopkins Krieger School of Arts and Sciences, Baltimore, MD, USA National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, USA Albert Einstein College of Medicine of Yeshiwa University, N.Y., USA

Supporting Institutions

Dipartimento di Medicina Molecolare e Biotecnologie Mediche, Università degli Studi di Napoli "Federico II", Naples, Italy Istituto di Endocrinologia ed Oncologia Sperimentale "G. Salvatore", CNR, Naples, Italy Istituto Superiore di Oncologia, Italy

Italian Faculty

Salvatore Maria Aloj Vittorio Enrico Avvedimento Francesco Beguinot Maria Teresa Berlingieri Roberto Bianco Bernadette Biondi Francesca Carlomagno Maria Domenica Castellone Gabriella Castoria Angela Celetti Annamaria Cirafici Annamaria Colao Gerolama Condorelli Vittorio De Franciscis Sabino De Placido Gabriella De Vita Monica Fedele Pietro Formisano Alfredo Fusco Fabrizio Gentile Domenico Grieco

Michele Grieco Maddalena Illario Paolo Laccetti Antonio Leonardi Paolo Emidio Macchia Rosa Marina Melillo Claudia Miele Nunzia Montuori Roberto Pacelli Giuseppe Palumbo Maria Giovanna Pierantoni Rosario Pivonello Giuseppe Portella Maria Fiammetta Romano Giuliana Salvatore Massimo Santoro Donatella Tramontano Giancarlo Troncone Giancarlo Vecchio Giuseppe Viglietto Mario Vitale

Il fatto che l'attività svolta in modo così imperfetto sia stata e sia tuttora per me fonte inesauribile di gioia, mi fa ritenere che l'imperfezione nell'eseguire il compito che ci siamo prefissi o ci è stato assegnato, sia più consona alla natura umana così imperfetta che non la perfezione.

Rita Levi Montalcini

To my family and friends,

without them, my life would not make sense

"DNA methylation/ demethylation cycles in Estrogen induced transcription"

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	4
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	5
ABSTRACT	6
1. INTRODUCTION	7
1.1 The Transcription Process	7
1.2 The three stages of DNA transcription	8
1.3 Epigenetics.	10
1.3.1 Histone modifications	10
• <i>Histone acetylation</i>	10
• <i>Histone methylation</i>	11
1.3.2 DNA Methylation and Demethylation in Mammals	12
• DNA Methylation Mechanism	12
• Mechanisms of Active DNA Demethylation	14
1.4 Estrogen induced transcription	16
1.5 PS2 gene	17
2. AIM OF MY STUDY	18
3. MATERIAL AND METHODS	19
• Cell culture and drugs	19
• mRNA quantification by qPCR	19

٠	Transfections and silencing	19
•	Chromatin immunoprecipitation (qChIP)	20
•	AzadC trapping procedure	20
4. RES	SULTS	21
•	Estrogen induces PS2 mRNA expression	21
•	Transcriptional cycle induced by Estrogen	22
•	Estrogen induces H3K9 demethylation on ERE chromatin	24
•	H3K4/K9 methylation-demethylation cycle corresponds to the DNMTs recruitment on PS2 ERE Chromatin	25
•	The block of RNA pol II anticipates DNMT3a recruitment	27
•	A new procedure to detect DNMTs presence on chromatin	29
•	DNA polymerase alpha inhibition by aphidicolin does not alter DNMT3a Estrogen- dependent cycle	30
•	Perturbation of DNA methylation waves, alters the Estrogen-dependent induction of Transcription	31
•	Phosphorylated H2AX accumulated at the E2-dependent promoter is dependent on DNA replication	32
5. DIS	SCUSSION	34
•	<i>Recruitment of DNA methyltransferase to the transcription initiation complex</i>	34
•	DNMT3a and active demethylation during E2-induced transcription	34
•	Histone H3 K9 methylation cycles on promoters of estrogen induced genes	35
•	DNA Methylation cycles on promoters of estrogen induced genes	35
6. CO	NCLUSION	37

7. AKNOWLEDGMENT	
8. REFERENCES	40

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This dissertation is based upon the following publications:

1. Morano A, Angrisano T, Russo G, **Landi R**, Pezone A, Bartollino S, Zuchegna C, Babbio F, Bonapace IM, Allen B et al. 2014. Targeted DNA methylation by homology-directed repair in mammalian cells. Transcription reshapes methylation on the repaired gene. *Nucleic Acids Res* **42**(2): 804-821.

2. Landi R, Pezone A, Russo G, Zuchegna C, Porcellini A, Avvedimento V. E. Methylation-BER cycles drive estrogen induced transcription. Manuscript in preparation.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

5hmC 5-Hydrossymethylcytosine AcH3 Histone H3 AID Activation-induced cytosine deaminase APOBEC1 apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide 1 BAH bromo-adjacent homology domain **BER** base excision repair enzymes **CBP** CREB binding protein DME/ROS1family 5mC-specific glycosylase **DNMT** DNAmethyltransferase E2 17β-estradiol **ER** Estrogen Receptor ERE estrogen responsive element ESR1 Estrogen receptor 1 gene ESR2 Estrogen receptor 2 gene GPR30 rhodopsin-like family of G protein-coupled receptors H3K27me3 trimethylation of lysine 27 on histone H3 H3K36me3, H3K79me3 trimethylation of lysines 36 and 79 H3K4me2/me3 histone H3 di- and trimethylation of lysine 4 H3K9me2/me3 di- and trimethylation of lysine 9 on histone H3 H4K20me3 trimethylation of lysine 20 on histone H4 HATs histone acetyltransferases HDs or HDACs histone deacetylases LSD1 Lysine specific demethylase MBD2The MBD-containing proteins MBD4 methyl-CpG-binding domain protein 4 MeCP2 methyl CpG binding protein 2 **NER** Nucleotide Excision Repair **NLS** Nuclear localization sequence nt nucleotides NTP nucleoside triphosphate OGG1 8-oxo-G Glycosilase **PHD** Plant Homeo Domain PS2 or pS2 Trefoil factor 1 **PWWP** Pro-Trp-Trp-Pro motif **RFT** replication foci-targeting domain **RNA pol** RNA polymerase SAM/Ado-Met **TDG** Thymine DNA glycosylase **TET** ten eleven translocation TFF1 Trefoil factor 1 **TFIIB** Transcription factor IIB **TFIID** Transcription factor IID UHRF1 Ubiquitin-like, containing PHD and RING finger domain,1

ABSTRACT

Genomic DNA can be covalently modified by methylation, which is layered on the primary genetic information and alters gene expression. There are two patterns of DNA methylation. The first, stable methylation, seen in imprinting, is inherited in a sex-specific fashion and is invariant among individuals and cell types. Unstable or metastable methylation is variable among individuals and cell types and is associated with cancer and aging. The primary cause of somatic DNA methylation is not known. Here we show that DNA methylation is linked with transcription and repair. The effectors of DNA methylation are DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) that catalyze either de novo or maintenance methylation of hemimethylated DNA during replication. Demethylation of DNA has recently been linked to BER enzymes, which remove mismatched or alkylated bases. CpG de-methylation is also associated with mC oxidation and marks transcription start sites (Zhu 2009; Chen and Riggs 2011). The aim of my study is to analyze the association between DNA methylation and Estrogen-dependent induction of transcription. The estrogens are hormones that bound to the receptors penetrate into chromatin-DNA and bind specific DNA sequence present in several sites in the genome. The active receptors bound to DNA, trigger oxidative demethylation of histones locally and induce DNA (G) oxidation (Perillo et al. 2008). Simultaneously, on the same sites DNMT1, 3a, DNA methyltransferase enzymes, are recruited and stimulate a wave of methylation of CpGs. Methylated CpGs and oxidized Gs in the target sites during transcription initiation accumulate and are processed by BER and NER enzymes.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Transcription Process

Transcription is a cyclic process that transfers the genetic information of the DNA into RNA. It can be roughly divided into three major steps – promoter DNA binding and RNA chain initiation, processive RNA chain elongation, and termination.

DNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RNA pol) is the principal enzyme of gene expression in Eukaryota. RNA pol synthesizes the RNA chain complementary to the DNA template strand from nucleoside triphosphate (NTP) substrates. The first step of the cycle requires the presence of one of the promoter-specific subunits that together with the core forms the holoenzyme (Burgess and Anthony 2001; Wade et al. 2006).

The holoenzyme involves 12–14 subunits (depending on the polymerase type and organism and when active on DNA, they are also typically complexed with other factors and catalyze the production of complementary RNA (Borukhov and Nudler 2008).

Three different types of RNA polymerase exist in eukaryotic cells, whereas bacteria have only one. In eukaryotes, RNA pol I transcribes the genes that encode most of the ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs), and RNA pol III transcribes the genes for one small rRNA, plus the transfer RNAs that play a key role in the translation process, as well as other small regulatory RNA molecules. Thus, it is RNA pol II that transcribes the messenger RNAs, which serve as the templates for production of protein molecules (Clancy 2008).



Figure 1: Visualizing Transcription.

The process of transcription can be visualized by electron microscopy. In these early electron micrographs, the DNA molecules appear as "trunks," with many RNA "branches" extending out from them.

1.2 The three stages of DNA transcription

The first step of transcription is initiation, when the RNA polymerase II (RNA pol II) binds to the promoter sequence, melts the DNA duplex around the transcriptional start-site to form the transcription bubble.

This process called *transcription initiation* results in a stable open promoter complex, which initiates RNA synthesis (Figure 3a).

Many eukaryotic genes possess enhancer sequences, which can be found at considerable distances from the genes they affect. Enhancer sequences control gene activation by binding with activator proteins and altering the 3-D structure of the DNA to help "attract" RNA pol II, thus regulating transcription. Since eukaryotic DNA is tightly packaged as chromatin, transcription also requires a number of specialized proteins that help making the coding strand accessible.

In eukaryotes, the "core" promoter for a gene transcribed by RNA pol II is most often found immediately upstream (5') of the start site of the gene. Most RNA pol II genes have a TATA box (consensus sequence TATTAA) 25 to 35 bases upstream of the initiation site, which affects the transcription rate and determines location of the start site. Eukaryotic RNA polymerases use a number of essential cofactors (collectively called general transcription factors), and one of these, TFIID, recognizes the TATA box and ensures that the correct start site is used. Another cofactor, TFIIB, recognizes a different common consensus sequence, G/C G/C G/C G C C C, approximately 38 to 32 bases upstream (Figure 2).



Figure 2: The promoters of genes transcribed by RNA polymerase II consist of a core promoter and a regulatory promoter that contain consensus sequences. Not all the consensus sequences shown are found in all promoters.

Enhancer sequences act to enhance the rate at which genes are transcribed. Enhancers can be thousands of nucleotides away from the promoters with which they interact, but they are brought into proximity by the looping of DNA. This looping is the result of interactions between the proteins bound to the enhancer and those bound to the promoter. The proteins that facilitate this looping are called activators, while those that inhibit it are called repressors Once transcription is initiated and the RNA chain reaches 8–11 nucleotides (nt), the transition to productive *elongation* usually takes place, adding nucleotides to the 3' end of the growing chain (Figure 3b) (Borukhov and Nudler 2008).

In eukaryotes, *termination of transcription* occurs by different processes, depending upon the exact polymerase utilized.

Transcription of RNA pol II genes can continue for hundreds or even thousands of nucleotides beyond the end of a coding sequence. The RNA strand is then cleaved by a complex that appears to associate with the polymerase. Cleavage seems to be coupled with termination of transcription and occurs at a consensus sequence (Figure 3c) (Clancy 2008).



Figure 3: (A) The transcription process is initiated when the enzyme RNA polymerase binds to a DNA template at a promoter sequence. (B) During the elongation process, the DNA double helix unwinds. RNA polymerase reads the template DNA strand and adds nucleotides to the three-prime (3') end of a growing RNA transcript. (C) When RNA polymerase reaches a termination sequence on the DNA template strand, transcription is terminated and the mRNA transcript and RNA polymerase are released from the complex (© 2013 Nature Education All rights reserved.).

1.3 Epigenetics

Epigenetics is considered as heritable changes in gene expression that do not consist of changes in DNA sequence.

Epigenetic changes are involved in development and differentiation and one example is the X-chromosome inactivation in female mammals. However, epigenetic states can become altered by environmental influences or during ageing, leading to the develop of cancer and other diseases.

Examples of mechanisms that produce such changes are *DNA methylation* and *histone modification*, each of which alters how genes are expressed without altering the underlying DNA sequence.

These epigenetic changes may last through cell divisions for the duration of the cell's life, and may also last for multiple generations even though they do not involve changes in the underlying DNA sequence of the organism (Bird 2007)

1.3.1 Histone modifications

Eukaryotic chromatin contains DNA and histones that are organized in the nucleosome, which consists of a histone octamer (two H2A/H2B dimers and an H3/H4 tetramer), around which ~146 bp of DNA is wrapped. Most chromatin exists as transcriptionally ineffectual *heterochromatin*, in which the nucleosomes are densely packaged to form a 'closed chromatin structure'. Conversely, an 'open chromatin structure' is characteristic of transcriptionally competent *euchromatin*, which has widely spaced nucleosomes and is accessible to the transcriptional machinery. Accordingly, euchromatic chromatin is flexible to meet the requests for individual proteins under particular cellular circumstances.

The terminal tails of these histones can be modified by methylation and acetylation, which are critical for the regulation of gene transcription. Together, these modifications result in a complex series of molecular events that cause re-modelling of the chromatin configuration and render genes either active or silent.

Histone acetylation:

Chromosomal processes such as transcription are influenced by a variety of post-translational modifications to histones, including acetylation, phosphorylation, methylation, and ubiquitination. Methylated CpG islands attract a group of repressive proteins, the so-called methyl-CpG-binding-domain proteins, in a complex with *histone deacetylases*, which remove acetyl groups from lysine residues in the histone tails.

Deacetylated lysines are positively charged and react strongly with the negatively charged DNA. This leads to dense condensation of the nucleosomes at transcriptionally inactive promoters. Conversely, acetylation

of the lysines neutralizes this charge, which generates the open chromatin structure at transcriptionally active promoters. Histone acetylation is mediated by histone acetyl transferases, which form a 'transcription activator complex' with transcription factors and co-activator proteins. Histone acetylation is catalyzed by *histone acetyltransferases* (*HATs*) and histone deacetylation is catalyzed by *histone deacetylases* (denoted by *HDs* or *HDACs*). Several different forms of HATs and HDs have been identified. Among them, CBP/p300 is probably the most important, since it can interact with numerous transcription regulators.



Figure 4. Acetylation and deacetylation of the lysine residue.

In addition to acetylation, a number of different covalent histone modifications have been identified that mark the transcriptional status of chromatin.

Histone methylation:

Histone lysines may be unmethylated, or mono-, di- or trimethylated (-me1, me2, -me3). The level of methylation at particular residues is important for the interaction with cofactors and is therefore essential for regulation of transcriptional activity. Repressive marks include di- and trimethylation of lysine 9 on histone H3 (H3K9me2/me3), trimethylation of lysine 27 on histone H3 (H3K27me3) and trimethylation of lysine 20 on histone H4 (H4K20me3). Conversely, activation is associated with histone H3 di- and trimethylation of lysine 4 (H3K4me2/me3) and trimethylation of lysines 36 and 79 (H3K36me3, H3K79me3). Methyl groups are provided to the histones by SAM/Ado-Met and the methylation reaction is catalysed by histone lysine methyltransferases. Methyl groups can also be removed from histone lysine residues by the action of histone lysine demethylases (Gronbaek et al. 2008). It has been shown that transcriptional activation is linked to H3K4 methylation cycle and the enzyme involved in this process is the lysinespecific demethylase. LSD1 is a flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD)-containing enzyme, which demethylates di-methyl lysine 4 (or lysine 9 under certain conditions) and generates H₂O₂ during the demethylation process (Anand and Marmorstein 2007; Gronbaek et al. 2008; Lan et al. 2008). It has been shown that transient demethylation of histone H3 lysine 4 triggers Myc-induced transcription (Amente et al. 2010). Also, it has been found that Estrogen-Induced Gene Expression is driven by H3K9me2 demethylation (Perillo et al. 2008). In both cases LSD1 is responsible for the oxidative process that results in the formation of Hydrogen peroxide (H2O2) whose main DNA product is 8-oxoguanine (8-oxo-G). 8-oxo-G is removed by base excision repair (BER) enzymes that seem to be an important signal driving transcription initiation. More specifically, 8-oxo-G is recognized and removed by the 8-oxo-guanine-DNA glycosylase 1 (OGG1) that leaves an apurinic site, further processed by the nuclease Ape 1 (Amente et al. 2010). Ape1 may be important during the initiation process, because it introduces nicks in the chromatin that can dynamically dissipate transcription-induced supercoiling (Bhakat KK et al. 2008; Chattopadhyay et al. 2008).

Because it has also been shown that topoisomerase II recognizes and repairs a single-stranded DNA break in double-stranded substrates, it has been proposed that removal of the oxidized bases generates transient nicks that function as entry points for the enzyme. In this way, topoisomerase IIb relaxes the DNA strands and favors chromatin bending to accommodate the transcription initiation complex (Perillo et al. 2008).

1.3.2 DNA Methylation and Demethylation in Mammals

DNA methylation occurs almost entirely within CpG dinucleotides. In general, 5mC is highly frequent in repetitive sequences and in gene bodies but rare housekeeping promoters.

DNA methylation is also involved in genomic imprinting, X chromosome inactivation, and suppression of retrotransposon elements, and is essential for normal development.

Although methylation patterns are largely maintained through somatic cell divisions, changes in methylation patterns occur during mammalian development and cell differentiation (Chen and Riggs 2011).

DNA Methylation Mechanism

The effectors of DNA methylation are DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) that catalyze either *de novo* or maintenance methylation of hemimethylated DNA during replication. These enzymes catalyze the transfer of a methyl group from*S*-adenosyl-L-methionine to cytosine, DNMT1, probably with the

help of UHRF1, recognizes hemimethylated sites and copies pre-existing methylation patterns to the newly synthesized strand.

DNMT3A and DNMT3B are *de novo* methyltransferases active on unmethylated DNA (Fig. 6). They are important during early development and also contribute to the maintenance of DNA methylation sites missed by DNMT1.

DNMT3L lacks critical methyltransferase motifs and is catalytically inactive, but it can stimulate the activity of DNMT3A/3B.

Moreover, it has been reported that specific histone modifications, such as H3K4 methylation may protect DNA from *de novo* methylation (Chen and Riggs 2011).



Figure 5. Mechanisms of DNA methylation and demethylation in mammals. *A*. DNMTs catalyze the covalent addition of a methyl group to C-5 of cytosine. *B*. There are two DNMT activities: *de novo* and maintenance methylation. DNMT3A and DNMT3B are *de novo* methyltransferases that establish methylation patterns during early development then maintained through somatic cell divisions by the maintenance methyltransferase DNMT1 (Chen and Riggs 2011).



Figure 6. Schematic structure of human DNMTs and DNMT3-like protein. Conserved methyltransferase motifs in the catalytic domain are indicated in *Roman numerals*. *NLS*, nuclear localization signal; *RFT*, replication foci-targeting domain; *BAH*, bromo-adjacent homology domain; *PWWP*, a domain containing a conserved proline-tryptophan-tryptophan-proline motif; *PHD*, a cysteine-rich region containing an atypical plant homeodomain; *aa*, amino acids. DNMT3L lacks the critical methyltransferase motifs and is catalytically inactive (Chen and Riggs 2011).

Mechanisms of Active DNA Demethylation

DNA demethylation can be achieved either passively, by simply not methylating the new DNA strand after replication, or actively, by a replication-independent process (Fig. 5*B*). However, the mechanism(s) of active demethylation remain poorly understood. Fig. 7 proposes three possible mechanisms of active DNA Demethylation. Only in plants is there firm evidence for the direct removal of the 5mC base by a 5mC-specific glycosylase (DME/ROS1family) (Zhu JK. 2009). This process is like base excision repair (BER) and together with other evidence, it has been suggested a role for BER in active demethylation in mammals but, only weak 5mC glycosylase activity has been reported for thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG) and methyl-CpG-binding domain protein 4 (MBD4).

Otherwise, it has been proposed that BER enzymes are involved only after modification of the 5mC base. An example of this suggested mechanism is deamination of 5mC to thymine, followed by BER of the resulting T-G mismatch (Fig. 7). Activation-induced cytosine deaminase (AID) and apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide 1 (APOBEC1) can deaminate 5mC, the resulting T-G mismatches are then repaired and the unmethylated C is restored.

Recently, it has been discovered that mouse and human TET family proteins can catalyze conversion of 5mC to 5hmC, a new modified base found in mammalian DNA. This observation suggests that 5hmC could be an intermediate in active demethylation and repaired by a BER process, although, so far, no 5hmC DNA glycosylases have been identified (Chen and Riggs 2011).



Figure 7. Models for DNA demethylation mechanisms involving BER (Chen and Riggs 2011).

1.4 Estrogen induced transcription

Estrogen (17 β -estradiol) is the primary female sex hormones. Natural estrogens are steroid hormones, and readily diffuse across the cell membrane. Once inside the cell, they bind to and activate estrogen receptors which in turn modulate the expression of many genes (Nussey and Whitehead 2001).

Two classes of estrogen receptor exist: **ER**, which is a member of the nuclear hormone family of intracellular receptors, and **GPR30**, which is a member of the rhodopsin-like family of G protein-coupled receptors.

Once activated by estrogen, the ER is able to translocate into the nucleus and bind to DNA to regulate the activity of different genes (i.e. it is a DNA-binding transcription factor). Estrogen receptor has two different forms, α and β , encoded by a separate gene (*ESR1* and *ESR2*, respectively).

Upon binding to 17β -estradiol (E2), ER forms dimers, ER α ($\alpha\alpha$) or ER β ($\beta\beta$) homodimers or ER $\alpha\beta$ ($\alpha\beta$) heterodimers and interacts with permutations of a palindromic DNA sequence separated by three nonspecific nucleotides: 5'-GGTCAnnnTGACC-3', the consensus estrogen responsive element (ERE) (Li et al. 2004).

The E2-ER-ERE complex subsequently recruits coactivators/regulators to promote local chromatin remodeling and the initiation of transcription. This pathway is called ERE-dependent ER signaling.

Estrogen receptor alpha and beta show significant overall sequence homology, and both are composed of five domains (listed from the N- to C-terminus; amino acid sequence numbers refer to human ER):(A-F domain)



Figure 8: The domain structures of ER α and ER β , including some of the known phosphorylation sites involved in ligand-independent regulation.

The N-terminal A/B domain is able to transactivate gene transcription in the absence of bound ligand (e.g., the estrogen hormone) but this activation is weak and more selective compared to the activation provided by the E domain. The C domain, also known as the *DNA-binding domain*, binds to estrogen response elements (ERE) in DNA.

The D domain connects the C and E domains.

The E domain contains the ligand binding cavity as well as binding sites for coactivator and corepressor proteins. In the presence of bound ligand it is able to activate gene transcription.

The C-terminal F domain function is not entirely clear and is variable in length (Li et al. 2004).

1.5 PS2 gene

Trefoil factor 1 is encoded in humans by the *TFF1* gene (also called *PS2* gene).

The PS2 gene product is a small, secreted polypeptide currently of unknown function, but with structural features similar to some growth factors. In the human breast cancer cell line, ER stimulates PS2 gene transcription by interacting with an ERE in the 5'-flanking region of that gene. It contains two regions required for the transcription-activating function of the ER, a DNA-binding domain, which determines target gene specificity, and a hormone-binding domain (Stack et al. 1988).



Figure 9: PS2 gene structure. It contains 3 exons and an Estrogen Responsive Element in the 5'-flanking region of that gene.

2. AIM OF MY STUDY

The ultimate objective of this study is the analysis of the mechanism of transcription induction by activated estrogen receptor.

I wish specifically to find the role and the function of DNA methylation at the promoters of estrogens-induced genes during transcription initiation.

I have used a simplified system to analyze E2-induced transcription: PS2 gene, which is induced by E2 and other factors and contains an estrogen responsive element (ERE) in the in the 5'-flanking region (Figure 9). I have analyzed:

1. the histone H3 methylation code before and after E2 stimulation;

2. the timing of DNMTs recruitment on PS2 ERE elements associated with the induction of transcription;

3. the different role of DNMT1 and 3a in transcription and replication.

3. MATERIAL AND METHODS

Cell culture and drugs

MCF-7 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's-Modified-Eagle's-Medium (DMEM) low glucose with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum. Cells were counted 1 million for plate and after 2 days hormone starved for other 3 days. To induce entry into the cycle, synchronized G0 arrested cells were treated with 50nM of E2 (Sigma-Aldrich) at the times indicated in the text.

To synchronize RNA transcription, α -amanitin (Sigma-Aldrich) was used at the concentration of 2.5 μ M, 2h before E2 treatment.

1 μ M of aphidicolin (Sigma-Aldrich) for 16h was added to hormone starved MCF 7 cells to block the replicative fork.

mRNA quantification by qPCR

cDNA was prepared from total RNA with Quantitect Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen, Milan, Italy) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Each sample was assayed in triplicate. The qPCR data were normalized to the expression of the 18S gene, and after normalization, the data were presented as fold change relative to the 0 point.

Transfections and silencing

To carry out transient transfection experiments in MCF-7 cells, we used MicroPorator Digital Bio Technology, a pipettetype electroporation (Seoul, Korea). After 24h of hormone starvation, specific plasmids or shRNA were introduced into each 3x10⁶ dissociated cells in 100 ml volume according to the manufacturer's instructions. Pulse width was determined according to applied voltages: 1100V, 30 ms, 1 pulse. Electroporated cells were then seeded into 100-mm culture dishes containing 5ml of culture media. After 48 h, cells were treated with E2 (Sigma-Aldrich) at the times and concentrations indicated in the text.

shRNA-DNMT1i(3'UTR) from Addgene, pc1099: DMNT1 wt, pc1078: DNMT1 mutant (C1229W) were used a final concentration of 2 μ g for each transfection.

Chromatin immunoprecipitation (qChIP)

MCF-7 cells were hormone starved for 3 days and treated with E2 for the indicated times. After PBS wash, cells were cross-linked with a 1% formaldehyde/PBS solution for 10 min at room temperature. Cross-linking was stopped by adding glycine 125mM for 5' and samples were processed using the chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay kit (Upstate Biotechnology) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Antibodies used in these experiments were specific for DNMT1 and 3a (abcam), RNA POL II P-Ser5 (Covance), gamma H2AX (cell signaling). Immunoprecipitated DNA was analyzed by PCR using sets of primers against PS2 ERE regions. PCR products were analyzed by semiquantitative and quantitative Real-Time PCR as indicated in the text. Normal serum and input DNA values were used to subtract/normalize the values from ChIP samples. All values represent the average of at least three independent experiments.

AzadC trapping procedure

MCF-7 cells were hormone starved for 3 days and treated with 2h of α amanitin before E2 induction at the indicated times. 15'-30' before E2 treatment cells had a pulse of 50 μ M of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. After PBS wash, cells were collected and genome extraction was performed using the MB buffer as indicated in the published protocol (Kiianitsa and Maizels 2013). The genome was then sonicated and immunoprecipitated according with the ChIP assay procedure from Upstate Biotechnology. Antibodies used in these experiments were specific for DNMT1 and DNMT3a (abcam). Immunoprecipitated DNA was analyzed by PCR using sets of primers against PS2 ERE regions. PCR products were analyzed by semiquantitative and quantitative Real-Time PCR as indicated in the text. Normal serum and input DNA values were used to subtract/normalize the values from ChIP samples. All values represent the average of at least three independent experiments.

4. **RESULTS**

Estrogen induces PS2 mRNA expression

To verify the estrogen induction of transcription, we have first analyzed PS2 mRNA levels after E2 stimulation. MCF-7 cells have been hormone-starved for 3 days and then treated with E2. Total RNA has been extracted and reverse transcribed into cDNA and then amplified with specific primers for PS2 mRNA. The results shown in Figure 10 indicate that at 60' after E2 activation, mRNA levels are significantly increased.



Figure 10: PCR analysis of PS2 mRNA levels in MCF-7 hormone-starved cells at 0' and 60' after E2 activation. mRNA levels were normalized to 18S RNA levels. All values represent the average of at least three independent experiments. Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs t test: P<0.05 as compared with the each untreated control.

Transcriptional cycle induced by Estrogen

Estrogen Receptor α (ER α) belongs to the nuclear receptor superfamily of transcription factors (Robinson-Rechavi et al. 2003) and binds to cognate DNA sequences (estrogen responsive elements, ERE). The binding of estradiol (E2) into a carboxy-terminal hydrophobic pocket of ERa induces three-dimensional changes of surfaces that interact with cofactors (Brzozowski et al. 1997). Studies using chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) demonstrated that, once recruited to target promoters, E2-bound ER α induced an ordered, cyclical recruitment of coactivator complexes, some of which contain HAT, HMT or ATP-dependent remodelling activities (Metivier et al. 2003). To assess ER α and RNA pol II occupancy on PS2 Promoter/ ERE genomic sites in a precise temporal frame after E2 activation, we carried out qChIP analysis. The cells were hormone starved for 3 days and then treated with E2 at different times (0', 15', 30', 45', 60'). Figure 11 shows that ER α and RNA pol II are recruited (15'-60') on the Promoter/ ERE of PS2 gene and accumulate progressively. The transcriptional coactivators and acetyltransferases p300 and CREB binding protein (CBP) are also recruited to these regions after 30'-45', respectively. Comparing the relative site occupancy of ER, RNA pol II on Promoter/ERE elements, we suggest a transcription cycle induced by E2 with a period of 45'-60'. The MBDcontaining proteins (MeCP2 and MBD2) appear late after E2 activation, probably acting as structural proteins, which recruit a variety of histone deacetylase (HDAC) complexes and chromatin remodelling factors, leading to chromatin compaction and, consequently, to transcriptional repression (REF).



Figure 11: Transcriptional cycle induced by Estrogen (Perillo et al. 2008)

Estrogen induces H3K9 demethylation on ERE chromatin.

The ER α is rapidly recruited to the ERE chromatin of MCF-7 cells at 30' – 60' of E2 addition (Figure 11) and acetylated H3 accumulates on the same sites (Fig 11). In this time frame (30' – 60') on the same promoter- ERE sites, independently on the physical distance on linear DNA, total and active (Ser 5-phosphorylated) RNA Pol II accumulate (Figure 11). To find specific histone marks, linked to E2 induced transcription, we analyzed the histone H3 methylation of lysine 4 (**K or k** 4) or 9 (K9) in MCF7 cells exposed to E2 for short periods of time. We performed ChIP experiments, using H3K9 and K4 antibodies and specific primers for PS2 ERE regions. We show that E2 induces a cycle of H3K4 methylation and H3K9 demethylation of 15 – 30' (Figure 12c).

Conventionally, methylation of lysine 4 in histone H3 (H3K4) marks transcribed loci, while the presence of dimethyl-lysine 9 in the same histone (H3K9me2) usually results into silencing.

The analysis of the methylation status of H3 K4 and K9 indicates that:

1. H3K4me2 disappears from the ERE chromatin (Figure 12b);

2. the 3methyl form of H3K4 significantly increases (Figure 12b);

3. H3K9 both me2 and me3 levels are significantly reduced on the chromatin (Figure 12a).

These data indicate that E2 induces methylation of H3K4 and demethylation of H3K9 on the ERE chromatin.



Figure 12: PS2 H3 me k4 levels are analyzed by qChIP in hormone-starved MCF-7 cells and after E2 activation at the indicated times (Perillo et al. 2008).

H3K4/K9 methylation-demethylation cycle corresponds to the DNMTs recruitment on PS2 EREChromatin.

It has been reported that DNMTs-dependent variations of the methylation status of CpGs within the *PS2* gene promoter are integral components of the 'transcriptional clock' (Metivier et al. 2003) that controls the progression through transcription cycles.

We hypothesize that DNA methylation and transcription are closely linked. More specifically, DNA methylation changes at the transcription start sites and ERE (estrogen-responsive element) of E2-induced genes following short term (minutes) induction by estrogens, suggest that DNA methylation is essentail for progression of transcription.

The effectors of DNA methylation are DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) that catalyze either *de novo* or maintenance methylation of hemimethylated DNA during replication.

We asked whether DNA methylation during E2-induced transcription was carried out by DNMT1 and 3a enzymes. To this end, we performed ChIP analysis, using DNMT1 and DNMT3a antibodies and specific primers for PS2- ERE regions.

Fig. 13a shows the recruitment of DNMT1 and DNMT3a on PS2 -ERE. Specifically, DNMT3a accumulates after 30'of E2 induction of transcription, while DNMT1 decreases on the same region.

To confirm these data, we searched, on the same regulatory region, for the presence of Np95, (also known as UHRF1 or ICBP90), a protein that binds and anchors DNMT1 (Fig13b). As expected, Np95 decreases similarly to DNMT1(Fig.16c).

DNA methylation seems associated to histone H3 methylation cycles, because its timing (15') overlaps with demethylation of histone H3 lysine 9 and methylation of lysine 4 occurring in the first round of transcription induced by E2 (Fig 12).

To better investigate the specificity of DNMTs cyclic recruitment during E2 induction of transcription, we analyzed the presence of **DNMTs** on H19 gene. H19 encodes a 2.3-kb non-coding mRNA which is strongly expressed during embryogenesis and it is not E2 responsive.

DNMT3a levels are stable and remain unmodified on H19 gene, indicating that DNMTs recruitment to the PS2 ERE is associated to active transcription. We do not know at present why DNMT1 disappears from H19 gene at 30' of E2 (Fig 13b). We speculate that a late replication origin close to H19 gene promoter is induced by E2.



Figure 13: DNMTs levels were analyzed by qChIP in hormone-starved MCF-7 cells after E2 activation at the indicated times (15', 30'). DNMT1 and DNMT3a show a different recruitment on PS2 ERE elements.

ChIP with anti Np95 antibodies on PS2 ERE, (also known as UHRF1 or ICBP90), a protein that binds and anchors DNMT1 (Fig16b). Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs t test: *P<0.05 as compared with the each untreated control.

The block of RNA pol II anticipates DNMT3a recruitment

To better investigate the association between methylation and transcription, MCF7 cells were treated with α -amanitin (α -ama), an inhibitor of RNA pol II. α -ama is a cyclic peptide of eight amino acids that interacts with the bridge helix in RNA pol II. The bridge helix has evolved to be flexible and its movement is required for translocation of the polymerase along the DNA backbone. The addition of this drug reduces the rate of RNA pol II translocating on DNA (fig 14a).

After 2h of α -ama treatment, we searched for the presence on the ERE chromatin of DNMT1 and DNMT3a following E2 induction at short times. Figure 15c shows that DNMT3a was still recruited after E2 addition but it accumulated earlier, because α -ama synchronizes the first round of transcription. DNMT1 recruitment in the first 30' of E2 is not modified by the drug (Fig15c).

To confirm these data we evaluated the DNMT1 partners, Np95, recruitment under the same conditions. As expected, similarly to DNMT1, α -ama treatment did not modify Np95 binding on ERE (Fig15a-c).



Figure 14: α -ama reduces the rate of RNA pol II translocation on DNA. **a.** Ser5-P RNA pol II is responsible of transcription initiation and its recruitment has been analyzed by qChIP in hormone-starved MCF-7 cells after 2h α -ama and E2 activation at the indicated times (15', 30', 45', 60'). **b.** Ser5-P RNA pol II recruitment by qChIP in hormone-starved MCF-7 cells after E2 treatment at the indicated times (15', 30', 45', 60'). Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs t test: *P<0.05 as compared with the each untreated control.



Figure 15: DNMTs cyclic recruitment to ERE chromatin after α -ama synchronization of transcription. DNMT1 and DNMT3a follow a similar kinetics in the first 30' of E2 activation. Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs t test: *P<0.05 as compared with the each untreated control.

We suggest that the recruitment of DNMT1-3a to the ERE, previously observed (Fig 13a), reflects two different events that occur in the same region, DNA transcription and DNA replication. Since DNMT1, is an important component of a multiprotein DNA replication complex, its recruitment can be linked to the action of DNA Polymerase. On the other hand, DNMT3a accumulation at 15' - 30' corresponds to the first round of transcription. Synchronization of transcription, by α -ama, confirms DNMT3a as the main actor in the E2- induction of transcription. However, the role of DNMT1 in E2-dependent transcription remains still to be elucidated.

a)

A new procedure to detect DNMTs presence on chromatin

To confirm DNMT3a estrogen-dependent recruitment to ERE region, we performed a new experimental procedure by exploiting the ability of DNMTs enzyme to bind covalently 5-azacytidine.

Azacitidine (5-azacytidine) is a chemical analogue of the cytosine nucleoside used in DNA and RNA. 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine-triphosphate is a substrate for the DNA replication machinery and can be incorporated into DNA. Azacytosine-guanine dinucleotides are recognized by the DNA methyltransferases as natural substrate and the enzymes will initiate the methylation reaction by a nucleophilic attack. This results in the establishment of a covalent bond between the carbon-6 atom of the cytosine ring and the enzyme and its DNA methyltransferase function is permanently blocked (Stresemann and Lyko 2008)

Furthermore, it has been reported that E2 induce a burst of DNA oxidation on the promoter and ERE region of E2-responsive genes that is recognized by BER enzymes generating transient nicks at the G-C pairs before the final substitution with new nucleotides (Perillo et al. 2008).

Taking in mind this mechanism, we asked whether a short pulse of 15' - 30' min of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine was enough to incorporate the drug stably into the DNA at the ERE or promoter. In this case the covalent bond between the azacytosine ring and the DNMTs allows the immunoprecipitation of the enzyme without crossilinking with formaldehyde.

Fig.16 shows the DNMT3a "trapping" **after 15 min** of E2 induction , which confirms the previous data obtained by ChIP (Fig. 15).



Figure 16: DNMTs "trapping" technique. A new procedure to capture these enzymes on DNA regulatory regions. This assay confirms DNMT3a occupancy on PS2 ERE elements at 15' min of E2 activation of transcription. Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs t test: P<0.05 as compared with the each untreated control.

DNA polymerase alpha inhibition by aphidicolin does not alter DNMT3a Estrogen- dependent cycle

We speculate that DNMT1 accumulation on PS2 ERE is affected by DNA replication, while DNMT3a is mainly involved in the induction of transcription. To this end, we have specifically inhibited DNA Polymerase A,D with aphidicolin in MCF7 and analyzed again the presence of DNMT3a and DNMT1 on the same regions of PS2 gene at the same times of E2 treatment.

Fig. 17a-b, shows that the DNMT3a, accumulates also in the presence of aphidicolin with the same kinetics illustrated above (Fig 15,16), suggesting that the block of replication does not affect the recruitment of DNMT3a during transcription. Furthermore, these results indicate that DNMT1 is cyclically recruited after 30' of E2 despite the inhibition of DNA replication. Probably, DNMT1 acts both in replication and transcription and the delayed recruitment visible in presence of aphidicolin, is dependent on transcription only, being replication completely blocked.



Figure 17: DNMTs Estrogen- dependent cycle in presence of DNA polymerase alpha inhibition, aphidicolin. **a. b.** DNMTs levels by qChIP in hormone-starved MCF-7 cells after 16h of aphidicolin and E2 activation at the indicated times (15', 30', 45', 60'). DNMT1 and DNMT3a show a different recruitment to the PS2 ERE element. **c.** DNMT1 and DNMT3a are unmodified in H19 gene which is not E2 sensitive. Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs t test: P < 0.05 as compared with the each untreated control.

Perturbation of DNA methylation waves, alters the Estrogen-dependent induction of Transcription.

Our previous results indicate that DNMT1 accumulation on Ps2 ERE is dependent on DNA replication, but the importance of this enzyme in the progression of transcription is reported in Fig.18, in which E2 induce transcription was analyzed in DNMT1 depleted cells.

We knocked down DNMT1 levels with a specific shRNA-DNMT1i(3'UTR) in MCF7 cells induced with E2. Transcription of PS2 gene was significantly, inhibited when DNMT1gene was silenced (Fig. 18). Furthermore, expression of the wild type DNMT1 gene restored E2 induction of transcription. Transfection of the DNMT1 catalytic mutant (DNMT1 mutant (C1229W), in silenced cells, did not restore the E2 induction of transcription (Fig. 18). We wish to note that overexpression of the wild type or mutant DNMT1 in normal cells (without depletion of the endogenous enzyme) inhibits E2 induction of PS2 gene, suggesting that higher levels of the protein, independently on its activity, alters transcription probably by inducing "squelching" of the initiation complex (Fig. 18).



Figure 18. E2 induction of PS2 gene expression and DNMT1 levels. Hormone starved MCF 7 cells were transfected with shRNA-DNMT1i(3'UTR), wt and a catalytic mutant (See Methods). After 48h, MCF-7 cells were treated for 60' with E2. PS2 expression was analyzed by qPCR. mRNA levels were normalized to 18S RNA levels. All values represent the average of at least three independent experiments. Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs t test: P<0.05 as compared with the each untreated control.

Phosphorylated H2AX accumulates at the E2-dependent promoter is dependent on DNA replication

Estrogen-transcriptional activation triggers DNA methylation/demethylation cycles (Fig. 13, 15) and DNA (dG) oxidation resulting in transient single strand nicks (Perillo et al. 2008). It has been reported that also double strand breaks can occur at the ERE sites (Chunru et al. 2009). However, the mechanism leading to these lesions is not known.

We hypothesize that DNA replication may favour DNA polymerase and RNA polymerase collisions and generate local DSBs. The best method to identify DSBs is the accumulation of H2AX phosphorylated (γ H2AX) by the checkpoint kinases ATM or ATR.

To this end we searched on PS2 ERE chromatin for the presence of γ H2AX, after short times of E2 induction, in presence or in absence of the DNA Pol inhibitor, aphidicolin.

Fig. 19 shows that γ H2AX accumulates on the ERE chromatin at 15 min after E2 induction of transcription. Under the same conditions γ H2AX levels do not change on a reference promoter region of H19 gene, which we use as control.

We do not know if the band seen in Fig19b right panel reflects a constitutive presence of H2AX on this gene or it is specific of a late replicating origins, due to hypermethylation of H19 gene.

Inhibition of replication by aphidicolin drastically reduces the amount of γ H2AX on ERE (Fig. 19 a, b). It is worth noting that on the H19 gene there was a complete loss of γ H2AX, suggesting that the accumulation of DSBs is dependent on active local replication. The lower levels of γ H2AX on the ERE region at 15 min after E2 suggest a rapid repair of the DSB by active transcription. We suggest that 15' after E2 exposure, the initiation complex is fully formed, functional and able to repair local DNA lesions.



Figure 19: a.b.c. γ H2AX levels on PS2 ERE by qChIP in hormone-starved MCF-7 cells after E2 activation at the indicated times (15', 30', 60') in presence and in absence of aphidicolin. **d.** γ H2AX levels on H19. Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs t test: *P<0.05 as compared with the each untreated control.

5. **DISCUSSION**

DNA Methylation cycles on promoters of estrogen induced genes

CpG methylation is not only a stable epigenetic mark but also an integral component of transcription. The DNA of the ERE –promoter region of PS2 gene is subjected to cycles of methylation during the earliest phases of transcription induced by E2.

This has been noted earlier but so far it is not known the biological significance (Metivier et al. 2003).

The data reported indicate that DNMT1 and 3a are recruited to the ERE promoter of TFF1 in a cyclical fashion (Fig.13, 15). Since both enzymes are involved also in replication, the recruitment to the ERE chromatin does not discriminate between DNA replication or transcription. However, inhibition of replication by aphidicolin (Fig. 17) prevents and delays DNMT1 not DNMT3a recruitment on the ERE chromatin, suggesting that DNMT3a is indeed directly involved in E2-induced transcription.

DNMT3a and active demethylation during E2-induced transcription

The level and pattern of 5-meC are determined by both DNA methylation and demethylation processes. Demethylation of DNA can be passive and/or active.

Passive DNA demethylation occurs when maintenance methyltransferases are inactive during the cell cycle following DNA replication, which results in a retention of the unmethylated state of the newly synthesized strand.

Active DNA demethylation involves one or more enzymes and can occur independently of DNA replication.

Evidence suggests that active DNA demethylation in mammals is also achieved, at least in part, by a base excision repair pathway.

More specifically, it has been proposed that candidate deaminases include AID and APOBEC1 can convert 5-meC to T through deamination; the resulting T is then removed by a G/T mismatch base excision repair pathway (Zhu 2009).

Recently, a new class of enzymes that participates to the demethylation of mCpG has been discovered. Tet (**ten-eleven translocation**) enzymes oxidize methyl to 5'hydroxylmethyl cytosine, which can be either passively eliminated through replication (passive demethylation) or actively removed by base excision repair enzyme TDG (active demethylation).

Our data discriminate the role of DNMT1 and DNMT3a on transcription, because the recruitment of DNMT3a to the ERE was independent on replication. Collectively, our data indicate that the DNMT3a on ERE

chromatin participates actively to transcription. We suggest that DNMT3a methylates CpGs that will be oxidized by Tet enzymes.

Histone H3 K9 methylation cycles on promoters of estrogen induced genes

The DNA methylation cycles appears to be linked to the histone H3 methylatio demethylation cycles on the ERE. Methylated H3K9 marks the promoter and the ERE chromatin in E2-inducible genes. Upon activation of E2, H3K9 is rapidly and transiently demethylated by LSD1 (Figure 12). LSD1 is a histone demethylase, which is recruited to the ERE sites and actively demethylates H3K4 and H3K9 (Perillo, 2008).

By interacting with diverse cofactors and catalyzing demethylation of monoand di-methylated H3K4 or H3K9, LSD1 is capable of either repressing or activating target genes (Metzger and Schule 2007; Shi 2007). The demethylation of H3K9 induced by E2 is rapidly reversed after 90'(Figure 12). H3K9 demethylation cycles, as well as the recruitment of the associated factors and DNMTs enzymes, can be detected only under stringent conditions, in which transcription initiation is synchronized.

Recruitment of DNA methyltransferase to the transcription initiation complex

Transcriptional activation involves the initial recognition of key regulatory DNA elements at promoters by sequence-specific DNA-binding activators and the core transcription machinery, along with the recruitment of essential cofactors (Lemon and Tjian 2000; Naar et al. 2001; Roeder 2005; Fong et al. 2012).

Estrogen-driven transcription triggers demethylation by LSD1 of H3K9me2, inducing DNA (G) oxidation (Perillo et al. 2008). Simultaneously, on the same sites DNMT1, 3a, DNA methyltransferase enzymes, are recruited and stimulate a wave of methylation of CpGs. We propose that methylated CpGs and oxidized Gs in the target sites during transcription initiation are processed by BER and NER enzymes restoring the correct G and the unmethylated C.

Our data provide evidence that both DNA methyltransferases are essential for E2-mediated transcription, since perturbing the levels of DNMT1 (Fig. 18) and 3a (not shown), the expression of E2 targets, is inhibited.

Furthermore, we know that in the first round of E2-dependent transcription BER and oxidative enzymes are recruited with the same kinetics shown by DNMT3a (Perillo et al. 2008; Kim 2009; Amente et al. 2010), suggesting that histone H3 demethylation, oxidation, DNA methylation and DNA repair are linked.

Furthermore, we have recently reported that the transcription machinery removes de novo DNA methylation induced by DNA damage and homologous repair (HDR, Homologous Dependent Repair) and that silencing of DNMT3a decreases HDR induced methylation (Morano et al. 2013).

We do not know if these data can be extended to other nuclear receptors, but recent results obtained by analyzing transcription induction by retinoic acid suggest that histone demethylation and DNA oxidation are necessary for looping of chromatin during transcription initiation (Zuchegna et al. submitted).

6. CONCLUSIONS

The data presented illustrate the association between DNA methylation and histone H3 methylation cycles. More specifically, we find that DNA methylation cycles of 15'-30' correspond to demethylation of histone H3 lysine 9 and methylation of lysine 4 occurring in the first round of transcription.

Inhibition of DNA or histone H3 methylation-demethylation processes alters the normal transcriptional events suggesting a mechanistic relation between DNA and H3 methylation and changes of chromatin leading to transcription initiation.

The same modifications of estrogen-induced genes occur in E boxes of Mycinduced genes (de-methylation of H3K4-K9, accumulation of OGG1 and OxodG and APE1)(Amente et al. 2010; Amente et al. 2011).

We believe that in cancer cells, highly transcribed genes (such as E box Myc or estrogen-induced genes), are extremely sensitive to disruption of methylation-oxidation cycles and may accumulate mutations.

Furthermore, these studies offer a new window to target highly transcribed genes in cancer. For example, by using drugs that target both repair and oxidation enzymes, we may be able to selectively inhibit highly transcribed genes th ERE by inducing apoptotic responses in tumors cells. Also, inhibition of transcription in our system may be used to screen for drugs that selectively kill cancer cells that are oxidation-adapted (Watson JD 2013).

7. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I am very glad to say thank you:

To my Professor Avvedimento whose passion for science and research has inspired me every day since I arrived in his lab. In the past 3 years he has helped me grow not only scientifically but humanly and it is an honor for me to have him as my mentor.

To Professor Muller who gave me the opportunity to attend his lab at The Burnett School of Biomedical Sciences, in Orlando. He gave me the chance to improve my scientific skills and to meet very stimulating people from his lab.

To Professor Santoro who gave me the opportunity to attend this PhD program.

To Professor Porcellini and Professor Acquaviva who significantly contributed to my scientific growth.

To Dr. Antonio Pezone, who is brilliant, patient, and deserves all my respect. If I reached this little goal it is mostly due to you! You supported me as a colleague and friend, you encouraged me to always do my best, and I absolutely think you are and will be an excellent scientist.

To Dr. Giusi Russo whose passion and devotion to duty is admirable. You showed me that if you really want something, you have to fight for it.

To Dr. Maria Vinciguerra and Dr. Annalisa Morano who always take care of me. You have been my first guides and I will not forget your teachings. I really hope I will never disappoint you.

To my student Sara for making me proud of her improvements.

To all the students and colleagues from my lab for always being ready to help me when I need it.

To Dr. Adriana Gallo, Dr. Savina Agnese, Dr. Alessandra Bertoni and Dr. Eleonora Liguori, I have enjoyed their ideas, thoughts and the time we spent together.

To my friends and colleagues from Feliciello's lab, whose smiles and advice made every obstacle easier to face.

To my roommates who have always afforded me a comfortable place to come back to after work.

To Rachel, Milica and Lucia who have been a second family when I was in Orlando. Without you my experience abroad could not have been so amazing.

To whom I cannot say how grateful I am to have shared part of my life with. Thank you!

To Maria and Candida, whose friendship and support, made me stronger during my PhD.

To Rossella, one of the best people I have ever met. Your friendship and generosity never let me feel lonely and I have no words to say how important your presence has been in this adventure.

To my old friends Patrizia, Federica, Rosalba, Daiana, and Agostino who I grew up with. You have always believed in me and I am so happy to share this moment with you.

To Francesca and Lucilla, who always supported me as a little sister.

To whom that has just started to walk in my path and whose support is already essential for me.

To my Grandparents who gave me the biggest example to follow!

To my cousin Ornella who is the sister I never had.

To my aunt Rosaria who is a constant presence in my life. I can't remember a moment you were not standing by me, thank you so much!

To my parents who taught me the good and the bad. I thank you so much for leaving me free to make my own mistakes and to stand by my side whenever I need you the most.

To my brother whose trust and respect have always supported me. Without your admiration and patience I would not be here today!

8. REFERENCES

- Amente S, Bertoni A, Morano A, Lania L, Avvedimento EV, Majello B. 2010. LSD1mediated demethylation of histone H3 lysine 4 triggers Myc-induced transcription. *Oncogene* **29**(25): 3691-3702.
- Amente S, Lania L, Majello B. 2011. Epigenetic reprogramming of Myc target genes. *Am J Cancer Res* **1**(3): 413-418.
- Anand R, Marmorstein R. 2007. Structure and mechanism of lysine-specific demethylase enzymes. J Biol Chem 282(49): 35425-35429.
- Bhakat KK, Mantha AK, Mitra S. 2008. Transcriptional regulatory functions of mammalian AP-endonuclease (APE1/Ref-1), an essential multifunctional protein. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 11: 621–638.
- Bird A. 2007. Perceptions of epigenetics. *Nature* 447(7143): 396-398.
- Borukhov, S. & E. Nudler 2008. RNA polymerase: the vehicle of transcription. *Trends Microbiol*, 16, 126-34.
- Brzozowski AM, Pike AC, Dauter Z, Hubbard RE, Bonn T, Engstrom O, Ohman L, Greene GL, Gustafsson JA, Carlquist M. 1997. Molecular basis of agonism and antagonism in the oestrogen receptor. *Nature* 389(6652): 753-758.
- Burgess, R. R. & L. Anthony 2001. How sigma docks to RNA polymerase and what sigma does. *Curr Opin Microbiol*, *4*, 126-31.
- Chattopadhyay R, Das S, Maiti AK, Boldogh I, Xie J, Hazra TK, Kohno K, Mitra S, Bhakat KK. 2008. Regulatory role of human AP-endonuclease (APE1/Ref-1) in YB-1-mediated activation of the multidrug resistance gene MDR1. *Mol Cell Biol* **28**(23): 7066-7080.
- Chen ZX, Riggs AD. 2011. DNA methylation and demethylation in mammals. *J Biol Chem* **286**(21): 18347-18353.
- Chunru Lin, Liuqing Yang, Bogdan Tanasa, Kasey Hutt, Bong-gun Ju, Kenneth A. Ohgi, Jie Zhang, David W. Rose, Xiang-Dong Fu, Christopher K. Glass, and Michael G. Rosenfeld. 2009. Nuclear Receptor-Induced Chromosomal Proximity and DNA Breaks Underlie Specific Translocations in Cancer. Cell 139, 1069– 1083.
- Clancy, S., 2008 Nature Education Citation: Clancy, S. 2008. DNA transcription. Nature Education 1(1):41)
- Cuozzo C, Porcellini A, Angrisano T, Morano A, Lee B, Di Pardo A, Messina S, Iuliano R, Fusco A, Santillo MR et al. 2007. DNA damage, homology-directed repair, and DNA methylation. *PLoS Genet* **3**(7): e110.
- Fong YW, Cattoglio C, Yamaguchi T, Tjian R. 2012. Transcriptional regulation by coactivators in embryonic stem cells. *Trends Cell Biol* **22**(6): 292-298.

- Gronbaek K, Treppendahl M, Asmar F, Guldberg P. 2008. Epigenetic changes in cancer as potential targets for prophylaxis and maintenance therapy. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol* **103**(5): 389-396.
- Kiianitsa, K. & N. Maizels 2013. A rapid and sensitive assay for DNA-protein covalent complexes in living cells. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 41, e104.
- Kim MS, Kondo T, Takada I, Youn MY, Yamamoto Y, Takahashi S, Matsumoto T, Fujiyama S, Shirode Y, Yamaoka I et al. 2009. DNA demethylation in hormoneinduced transcriptional derepression. *Nature* **461**(7266): 1007-1012.
- Lan F, Nottke AC, Shi Y. 2008. Mechanisms involved in the regulation of histone lysine demethylases. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* **20**(3): 316-325.
- Lemon B, Tjian R. 2000. Orchestrated response: a symphony of transcription factors for gene control. *Genes Dev* **14**(20): 2551-2569.
- Li X, Huang J, Yi P, Bambara RA, Hilf R, Muyan M. 2004. Single-chain estrogen receptors (ERs) reveal that the ERalpha/beta heterodimer emulates functions of the ERalpha dimer in genomic estrogen signaling pathways. *Mol Cell Biol* 24(17): 7681-7694.
- Metivier R, Penot G, Hubner MR, Reid G, Brand H, Kos M, Gannon F. 2003. Estrogen receptor-alpha directs ordered, cyclical, and combinatorial recruitment of cofactors on a natural target promoter. *Cell* **115**(6): 751-763.
- Metzger E, Schule R. 2007. The expanding world of histone lysine demethylases. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* **14**(4): 252-254.
- Morano A, Angrisano T, Russo G, Landi R, Pezone A, Bartollino S, Zuchegna C, Babbio F, Bonapace IM, Allen B et al. 2014. Targeted DNA methylation by homology-directed repair in mammalian cells. Transcription reshapes methylation on the repaired gene. *Nucleic Acids Res* **42**(2): 804-821.
- Naar AM, Lemon BD, Tjian R. 2001. Transcriptional coactivator complexes. *Annu Rev Biochem* **70**: 475-501.
- Nussey S, Whitehead S. 2001.
- Perillo B, Ombra MN, Bertoni A, Cuozzo C, Sacchetti S, Sasso A, Chiariotti L, Malorni A, Abbondanza C, Avvedimento EV. 2008. DNA oxidation as triggered by H3K9me2 demethylation drives estrogen-induced gene expression. *Science* **319**(5860): 202-206.
- Robinson-Rechavi M, Escriva Garcia H, Laudet V. 2003. The nuclear receptor superfamily. *J Cell Sci* **116**(Pt 4): 585-586.
- Roeder RG. 2005. Transcriptional regulation and the role of diverse coactivators in animal cells. *FEBS Lett* **579**(4): 909-915.
- Shi Y. 2007. Histone lysine demethylases: emerging roles in development, physiology and disease. *Nat Rev Genet* **8**(11): 829-833.

- Stack G, Kumar V, Green S, Ponglikitmongkol M, Berry M, Rio MC, Nunez AM, Roberts M, Koehl C, Bellocq P et al. 1988. Structure and function of the pS2 gene and estrogen receptor in human breast cancer cells. *Cancer Treat Res* **40**: 185-206.
- Stresemann C, Lyko F. 2008. Modes of action of the DNA methyltransferase inhibitors azacytidine and decitabine. *Int J Cancer* **123**(1): 8-13.
- Wade, J. T., D. Castro Roa, D. C. Grainger, D. Hurd, S. J. Busby, K. Struhl & E. Nudler 2006. Extensive functional overlap between sigma factors in Escherichia coli. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, 13, 806-14.
- Zhu JK. 2009. Active DNA demethylation mediated by DNA glycosylases. *Annu Rev Genet* **43**: 143-166.
- Zuchegna C, Aceto F, Bertoni A, Romano A, Perillo B, Laccetti P, Gottesman ME, Avvedimento VE, Porcellini A. 2014. Mechanism of Retinoic acid-induced transcription: histone code, DNA oxidation and formation of chromatin loops. In submission to *Molecular Cell*.

Targeted DNA methylation by homology-directed repair in mammalian cells. Transcription reshapes methylation on the repaired gene

Annalisa Morano^{1,2}, Tiziana Angrisano¹, Giusi Russo¹, Rosaria Landi¹, Antonio Pezone¹, Silvia Bartollino³, Candida Zuchegna⁴, Federica Babbio⁵, Ian Marc Bonapace⁵, Brittany Allen⁶, Mark T. Muller⁶, Lorenzo Chiariotti¹, Max E. Gottesman^{7,*}, Antonio Porcellini^{4,*} and Enrico V. Avvedimento^{1,*}

¹Dipartimento di Medicina Molecolare e Biotecnologie mediche, Istituto di Endocrinologia ed Oncologia Sperimentale del C.N.R., Università Federico II, 80131 Napoli, Italy, ²IRCCS CROB, Dipartimento di Oncologia Sperimentale, via Padre Pio, 1 85028 Rionero in Vulture, Italy, ³Dipartimento di Medicina e di Scienze della Salute, Università del Molise, 86100 Campobasso, Itay, ⁴Dipartimento di Biologia, Università Federico II, 80126 Napoli, Italy, ⁵Dipartimento di Biologia Strutturale e Funzionale, Università dell'Insubria, Varese 21100, Italy, ⁶Department of Molecular Biology and Microbiology and Biomolecular Science Center, University of Central Florida, 12722 Research Parkway, Orlando, FL 32826, USA and ⁷Institute of Cancer Research, Departments of Microbiology and Biochemistry and Molecular Biophysics, Columbia University Medical Center, New York, NY 10032, USA

Received July 1, 2013; Revised August 30, 2013; Accepted September 19, 2013

ABSTRACT

We report that homology-directed repair of a DNA double-strand break within a single copy Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP) gene in HeLa cells alters the methylation pattern at the site of recombination. DNA methyl transferase (DNMT)1, DNMT3a and two proteins that regulate methylation, Np95 and GADD45A, are recruited to the site of repair and are responsible for selective methylation of the promoter-distal segment of the repaired DNA. The initial methylation pattern of the locus is modified in a transcription-dependent fashion during the 15-20 days following repair, at which time no further changes in the methylation pattern occur. The variation in DNA modification generates stable clones with wide ranges of GFP expression. Collectively, our data indicate that somatic DNA methylation follows homologous repair and is subjected to remodeling by local transcription in a discrete time window during and after the damage. We propose that DNA methylation of repaired genes represents a DNA damage code and is source of variation of gene expression.

INTRODUCTION

DNA methylation is a feature of higher eukaryote genomes. It is thought to help organize large segments of noncoding DNA in heterochromatin and to contribute to genome stability (1). DNA methylation is critical during development in plants and mammals. In somatic cells, patterns of methylated CpGs are transmitted to daughter cells with high fidelity (2,3). Aberrant methylation, both hyper- and hypo-methylation, has been found in cancer cells (4).

There are two patterns of DNA methylation: (i) Stable methylation, which is the basis of imprinting, is inherited in a sex-specific fashion and is invariant among individuals and cell types. Loss or modification of stable methylation results in significant phenotypic and genetic alterations. (ii) Unstable or metastable methylation, which is variable among individuals and cell types.

Despite numerous analyses of the methylation profiles of single chromosomes, the regulation of DNA methylation is largely unknown. Somatic DNA methylation is associated with gene silencing and heterochromatin formation and is neither sequence- nor cell-specific.

We are investigating the nature of somatic DNA methylation and its link to gene silencing during neoplastic progression (5,6). Since formation of DNA double-strand

© The Author(s) 2013. Published by Oxford University Press.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/), which permits unrestricted reuse, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

^{*}To whom correspondence should be addressed. Tel: +39081679047; Fax: +39081679233; Email: antonio.porcellini@unina.it Correspondence may also be addressed to Max E. Gottesman. Tel: +1 212 305 6900; Fax: +1 212 305 1741; Email: meg8@columbia.edu Correspondence may also be addressed to Enrico V. Avvedimento. Tel: +390817463251; Fax: +390817463308; Email: avvedim@unina.it

breaks (DSBs) and activation of DNA damage checkpoints may precede genomic instability (7) and DNA methylation and gene instability appear to be linked in cancer (8), we speculated that DNA methylation was associated with DNA damage and repair.

We previously reported that homology-directed repair (HDR) modifies the methylation pattern of the repaired DNA (9). This was demonstrated using a system pioneered by Jasin (10,11), in which recombination between partial duplications of a chromosomal Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP) gene is initiated by a specific DSB in one copy. The unique DSB is generated by cleavage with the meganuclease I-SceI, which does not cleave the eukaryotic genome. The DSB is repeatedly formed and repaired, until the *I-SceI* site is lost by homologous or nonhomologous repair or depletion of I-SceI enzyme. Recombination products can be detected by direct analysis of the DNA flanking the DSB or by the appearance of functional GFP (9).

Two cell types are generated after recombination: clones expressing high levels of GFP and clones expressing low levels of GFP, referred to as H and L clones, respectively. Relative to the parental gene, the repaired GFP is hypomethylated in H clones and hypermethylated in L clones. The altered methylation pattern is largely restricted to a segment just 3' to the DSB. Hypermethylation of this tract significantly reduces transcription, although it is 2000 bp distant from the strong cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter that drives GFP expression (9,12). The ratio between L and H clones is \sim 1–2 or 1–4, depending on the insertion site of the GFP reporter. These experiments were performed in mouse embryonic (ES) or human cancer (Hela) cells. HDR-induced methylation was dependent on DNA methyl transferase I (DNMT1). Furthermore, methylation induced by HDR was independent of the methylation status of the converting template (9). These data, taken together, argue for a cause-effect relationship between DNA damage-repair and DNA methylation.

The link between DNA damage, repair and de novo methylation has been confirmed by other studies (13–15). We also note that genome wide surveys show that imprinted sites are historical recombination hot spots, reinforcing our conclusion and that of other workers, that DNA methylation marks the site of DNA recombination (16,17).

We report here that methylation induced by HDR is influenced by recruitment of Np95 and GADD45a to the DSB and that DNMT3a is also active at the DSB. We also show that methylation is reduced by transcription of the repaired region.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell culture, transfections and plasmids

HeLa cells lines were cultured at 37° C in 5% CO₂ in RPMI medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Invitrogen), 1% penicillin-streptomycin, and 2 mM glutamine.

HeLa-pDRGFP cells were obtained by transfection of HeLa cells with the pDRGFP plasmid. Briefly: 5×10^6

cells were seeded in a 100 mm dish and transfected with lipofectamine as recommended by the manufacturer (Invitrogen) with 2 µg of linearized pDRGFP plasmid and selected in the presence of puromycin (2micrograms/ml). Four clones were isolated and expanded, the remaining clones were screened for single pDRGFP insertion by quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR) [supporting information in (9)] and pooled (~200 clones with a pDRGFP copy number ranging from 0.8 to 1,2 copies/ genome). Clone 3 is the same clone 3 described in (9); clone 4 is a subclone of the clone 2 assayed also by Southern Blot (9). 10⁶ puromycin-resistant cells were transient transfected by electroporation with 2.5 µg of plasmid DNAs and/or small interfering RNA (siRNA) (200 nM) as indicated in the Figures. After transfection cells were seeded at 3×10^5 cells per 60 mm dish, 24 h post-transfection, cells were treated and harvested as described in figures. Pools of clones were generated in three independent transfections and frozen in aliquots. Transient transfections with I-SceI were carried at different times of culture after the primary transfection. Transfection efficiency was measured by assaying β-galactosidase activity of an included pSVβGal vector (Promega). Normalization by fluorescent-activated cell sorter (FACS) was performed using antibodies to β -gal or pCMV-DsRed-Express (Clontech). pEGFP (Clontech) was used as GFP control vector. The structure of the pDRGFP and other plasmids are described in the supplementary data (Suplementary Methods and Supplementary Figure S12).

Nucleic acid extraction and quantitative reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction, gPCR and PCR

Total RNA was extracted using Triazol (Gibco/ Invitrogen). Genomic DNA extraction was performed as described in (9). cDNA was synthesized in a 20 µl reaction volume containing 2µg of total RNA, four units of Omniscript Reverse Transcriptase (Qiagen), and 1 µl random hexamer (20 ng/µl) (Invitrogen). mRNA was reverse-transcribed for 1h at 37°C, and the reaction was heat inactivated for 10 min at 70°C. The products were stored at -20°C until use. Amplifications were performed in 20 µl reaction mixture containing 2 µl of synthesized cDNA product or 0.1 µg of genomic DNA, 2 µl of 10X PCR buffer, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.5 mM dNTP, 1.25 unit of Taq polymerase (Roche), and $0.2 \,\mu\text{M}$ of each primer on a TC3000G thermocycler (Bibby Scientific Italia). The number of cycles was selected and validated by running several control reactions and determining the linear range of the reaction. 15 µl of the PCR products were applied to a 1.2% agarose gel and visualized by ethidium bromide staining. Densitometric analysis was performed using a phosphoimager. Each point was determined in at least three independent reactions. Quantitative reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR) and qPCR were performed three times in six replicates on a 7500 Real Time-PCR on DNA template (RT-PCR) System (Applied Biosystems) using the SYBR Green-detection system (FS Universal SYBR Green MasterRox/ Roche Applied Science). The complete list of oligonucleotides is reported in Supplementary Table S1.

FACS analysis

HeLa-DRGFP cells were harvested and resuspended in $500 \,\mu$ l of phosphate buffered saline (PBS) at density of 10^6 cells/ml. Cell viability was assessed by propidium iodide (PI) staining. Cytofluorimetric analysis was performed on a 9600 Cyan System (Dako Cytometrix) or FACScan Flow Cytometer (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). PI positive cells were excluded from the analysis by gating the PI-negative cells on a FSC-Linear versus FL2H-Log plot. GFP⁺ cells were identified by using a gate (R1 in Supplementary Figure S3A) on a FL1H-Log versus FL2H-Log plot after sample compensation for FL1 versus FL2 channels. L and H cells were identified on FL1H Histogram of the R1-gated cells with two range-gate, as shown in Figure 1. The same gate was used for all cytofluorimetric determinations.

Cell cycle analysis was carried out by FACS: 1×10^6 cells were resuspended in 1 ml of PBS and fixed 10 ml of ice-cold 70% ethanol. Afther 3 h, the cells were washed and stained for 30 min at room temperature with 0.1% Triton X100, 0.2 mg/ml Dnase-free RnaseA, 20 µg/ml PI. Fluorescence was evalued by FACS and analyzed by ModFit LT 2.0 (Verity Software House, Topsham, ME, USA).

Population comparison was performed using the Population Comparison module of the FlowJo software (Tree Star, Inc., Ashland, OR). Difference in fluorescence intensity (mean) was determined using the matched pairs Student's t test.

Bisulfite DNA preparation, PCR and sequence analysis

Sodium bisulfite analysis was carried out on purified genomic DNA and on 'chromatinized' DNA. The full list of the buffer formulation is reported in the Supplementary Methods (Buffers Formulation). Chromatinized DNA was obtained as follows: 10⁷ cells were fixed at 4°C temperature with 1% formaldehyde for 3 min. The reaction was stopped with glycine to a final concentration of 125 mM. Nuclei were isolated and permeabilized by incubating cells for 20 min in Buffer A, 20 min in Buffer B and then resuspended in Buffer C (see Buffers Formulation in Supplementary Methods). Nuclei or purified genomic DNA was heat denaturated (96°C for 10 min) incubated in a fresh solution containing 5 M sodium bisulfite and 20 mM hydroquinone and incubated at 37°C for 18h. The cross-link was reversed. and proteins were digested with proteinase K (50 µg/ml at 55°C for 2h, and then at 65°C overnight). DNA was purified using a Wizard genomic purification kit (Promega), and then disulphonated by incubation for 15 min with NaOH to a final concentration of 0.3 M, neutralized with ammonium acetate to a final concentration of 3 M, and purified by ethanol precipitation. DNA was amplified by PCR using primers, listed in the Supplementary Table S1, using Taq polymerase, which is able to copy deoxyuridine, cloned in TOPO TA vector (Invitrogen), and sequenced with the M13 reverse primers.

Chromatin Immunoprecipitation

Cells were transfected and/or treated as indicated in the legends of the figures. The cells ($\sim 1 \times 10^6$) were fixed by

adding formaldehyde directly in the culture medium to a final concentration of 1% for 10 min at room temperature and washed twice using ice cold PBS containing $1 \times$ protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Applied Science) and 1 mM Phenylmethylsulfonyl Fluoride (PMSF). Fixed cells were harvested and the pellet was resuspended in 200 µl of sodium dodecyl sulphate Lysis Buffer (ChIP Assay Kit/ Upstate). After 10 min incubation on ice, the lysates were sonicated to shear DNA to 300-and 1000-bp fragments. Sonicated samples were centrifuged and supernatants duluted 10-fold in the ChIP Dilution Buffer (ChIP Assay Kit/Upstate). An aliquot (1/50) of sheared chromatin was further treated with proteinase K, phenol/chloroform extracted and precipitated to determine DNA concentration and shearing efficiency (input DNA). The chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) reaction was set up according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the sheared chromatin was precleard for 2 h with 20 µl of protein-A or protein-G agarose (Upstate) and 2µg of nonimmune IgG (New England Biolabs). Precleared chromatin was divided in two aliquots and incubated at 4°C for 16 h with 20 μl of protein-Å/G agarose and 2 μg of the specific antibody (Np95, generated and characterizated by IM Bonapace; RNA Pol II from Upstate cat. # 05-623; DNMT1, DNMT3a and DNMT3b from Abcam, cat. # ab-13537, ab-2850 and ab-2851, respectively) and nonimmune IgG respectively. Agarose beads were washed with wash buffers according to the manufacturer's instructions and immunoprecipitated DNA was recovered and subjected to qPCR using the primers indicated in the legend of the specific figures and in Supplementary Table S1.

Methylated DNA immunoprecipitation

Cells were transfected and/or treated as indicated in the legend of the figures. The cells ($\sim 5 \times 10^6$) were harvested and genomic DNA extracted as described above. Ten micrograms of total genomic DNA were digested in 200 µl for 16 h with restriction endonuclease mix containing 30 U each of Eco RI, Bam HI, Hind III, XbaI, Sal I (Roche Applied Science), phenol/chloroform extracted, ethanol precipitated and resuspended in 50 µl of Tris-HCl/EDTA buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.8, 1 mM EDTA) (TE) buffer. An aliquot (1/10) of digested DNA was used as input to determine the DNA concentration and digestion efficiency. Methylated DNA immunoprecipitation (MEDIP) was performed essentially as described (18) except that 2 µg of antibody specific for 5mC (Abcam cat. # ab-124936) were used to precipitate methylated DNA from 5 µg of total genomic DNA. H19 and UE2B were used to control in each experiment the efficiency of 5mC immunoprecipitation; the CpG island located to 5' end of human beta-actin was used as undamaged transcribed DNA gene control.

Statistical analysis

All data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation in at least three experiments in triplicate (n \geq 9). Statistical significance between groups was determined using Student's *t* test (matched pairs test or unmatched test were used as indicated in figure legends). Hierarchical clustering

4 Nucleic Acids Research, 2013



Figure 1. HDR generates high and low GFP-expressing clones. (A) Structure of the integrated tester DRGFP plasmid before and after repair. The structure of the plasmid (10,11) has been verified by sequence analysis. The boxes and arrows with different grayscales represent the structural elements of the integrated nonrecombinant (upper) and recombinant (lower) plasmid. The conversion of the *I-SceI* to *BcgI* restriction site marks the gene conversion event driven by the copy of GFP gene located at the 3' end of DRGFP (cassette II). (B) Generation and accumulation of high (H) and low (L) expressor cells following homologous repair. Kinetics of L and H clones accumulation. Cells containing a single copy of DRGFP (clones 3 and 4, see 'Materials and Methods' section, were transfected with I-SceI and subjected to FACS analysis at the times indicated. GFP positive (GFP⁺) cells were identified by the R1 gate (continued)

(Ward's criterion) analysis was performed using the *JMP* Statistical DiscoveryTM software by SAS, Statistical Analysis Software. Sequence analysis and alignments were performed using MegAlign software (a module of the Lasergene Software Suite for sequence analysis by DNASTAR) for MacOSX.

RESULTS

Repair-induced methylation at the 3' end of a DSB

The system we use to study DNA methylation induced by damage and repair relies on a single-copy integrated plasmid (DRGFP), which contains two inactive versions of GFP. Introduction of a DSB in one copy of the gene (cassette I) by expressing the nuclease I-SceI, generates a functional GFP only in cells in which the second copy of GFP (cassette II) provides the template to repair the DSB (10,11) (Figure 1A). Homologous repair both in pools and single clones generates cells expressing low (L clones) or high levels (H clones) of GFP. These clones can be tracked by FACS analysis, using bivariate plots and gating strategies.

The integrated DRGFP undergoes several cycles of cutting and resealing until the *I-SceI* site is lost by nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) or homology-dependent repair (HDR). We defined the time window of HDR by monitoring the appearance of recombinant GFP DNA in the population of cells transiently expressing I-SceI. We also measured the levels of I-SceI protein in transfected cells to estimate the period of enzymatic cleavage. Supplementary Figure S1A shows that the levels of recombinant GFP reached a plateau 3 days after transfection with I-SceI. The enzyme accumulated between 12 and 24 h and progressively disappeared 48–72 h after transfection. The estimated half-life of I-SceI protein was between 12 and 24 h (Supplementary Figure S1B).

Having established that the bulk of repair activity occurred in 3 days, we monitored the appearance and stabilization of L and H clones during and after HDR (9). Figure 1B shows the accumulation of L and H cells after exposure to I-SceI in a pool of HeLa clones as well as in single insertion clones carrying DRGFP inserts at different loci (see the legend of Figure 1B). Three days after I-SceI transfection, when HDR was almost complete, L and H cells accumulated in a 1:1 ratio (Figure 1B). We have used time-lapse microscopy to monitor GFP appearance during 30 h after I-SceI induction. The Supplementary Movie shows the I and II/III cycles (relative to GFP expression) during repair and the appearance of H and L cells from single repair events. In the I cycle, H and L cells are generated; in the II/III cycle (H-H and L-L), the phenotypes are stably propagated. Eventually, the ratio L/H cells changes as a function of time, until day 7 when the L to H ratio stabilized at 1:4 (Figure 1B). No further change was detected after numerous subsequent passages, and no new GFP clones appeared (data not shown). Note that this shift to high GFP-expressing cells occured after DSB repair, and therefore represents an inherited epigenetic process.

The drift toward H clones is detailed in Figure 1C. This figure also shows the levels of GFP mRNA as a function of time after transfection with the I-SceI plasmid. The changes in GFP mRNA concentrations correlate well with the fluorescence measurements that reflect GFP expression. We wondered if the time-dependent epigenetic changes were related to transcription of the GFP gene. This notion was tested by adding α -amanitin during repair and following the appearance of L and H clones. α -Amanitin inhibits translocation of elongating RNA polymerase II (Pol II) and increases the concentration of the polymerase on transcribed genes (19).

The pool of DRGFP clones, as well as one clone (Cl4), was transfected with I-SceI, and after 24 h, exposed to α -amanitin for 24 h. Five days later (day 7 after I-SceI transfection), GFP expression was analyzed by cytofluorimetry. Exposure of the cells to the drug did not influence the rate of recombination (Supplementary Figure S2A). As expected, it significantly enriched GFP chromatin with Pol II molecules (Supplementary Figure S2B). Figure 2A and Supplementary Figure S3 show that α -amanitin treatment of pooled cells (or clone 4) shifted the populations of L and H classes in opposite directions (see arrows AMA): L and H cells displayed on the average, lower or higher fluorescence intensity, respectively. Exposure to α -amanitin 6 days before transfection with I-SceI or 6 days after did not affect the distribution of L and H clones (Figure 2A and Supplementary Figure S3A). Statistical analysis of the data of 28 independent experiments in which a-amanitin was added during recombination to pools or single clones indicates that the results are reproducible (Figure 2B and Supplementary Figure S3B). Quantitative analysis of GFP fluorescence in H and L cells exposed to α -amanitin during repair reveals that the fraction of L cells increased and that the GFP expression in these cells was markedly reduced. Conversely, the H cell fraction decreased, but the intensity of the fluorescent signal in these cells was enhanced (Figure 2B). We hypothesize that transient stalling of Pol II induced by α-amanitin during repair, increased GFP methylation, yielding higher numbers of L clones and reducing the fraction of H clones.

We therefore asked if α -amanitin altered the DNA methylation profile of the repaired GFP gene. Clones 3 and 4 were

Figure 1. Continued

⁽see Supplementary Figure S3A) on a bivariate plot (FL1H versus FL2H) after I-SceI transfection. A representative experiment, displaying the L and H cells is shown. Each panel shows (i) the days after I-SceI transfection; (ii) total GFP positive cells (%); (iii) the range gates used to discriminate H and L cells; (iv) the ratio L/H, which reached a plateau 7–14 days after I-SceI transfection. Panel (C): the number (percent of total GFP⁺ cells, left) and the fluorescence intensity (mean, center) of H and L cells derived from clones (not shown here) or pool of clones, based on at least five independent experiments. After 7–14 days, the L/H ratio and the intensity of L and H peaks stabilize. CMV–EGFP transfected cells, as control lines, display a single fluorescence peak (9). The right panel shows the relative levels, normalized to 18S RNA, of nonrecombinant (UnRec) and recombinant (UnRec) and Methods⁺ section).



Figure 2. Synchronization of transcription by α -amanitin during repair amplifies and consolidates L and H clones. (A) Cytofluorimetric analysis. Cells were exposed to α -amanitin before, during or after I-SceI transfection as indicated on the top of each panel. A pool of HeLa DRGFP cells or a clone carrying a single insert were transfected with I-SceI expression vector, and 24h later, an aliquot was exposed for 24h to 2.5 μ M α -amanitin. The cells were washed and cultured in normal medium for 5 days, when FACS analysis was carried out (day 7 after I-SceI transfection). The fluorescence plots of GFP positive cells (overlay of the histograms of RI gates, see Supplementary Figure S3) are shown. L and H represent the range gates to identify high and low expressors, respectively. The arrows, indicated by AMA, represent the shift of the mean fluorescence after α -amanitin treatment. Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs *t* test: **P* < 0.001, ***P* < 0.05. Under these conditions, α -amanitin did not affect cell survival or growth rate. Five days after 24-h 2.5- μ M α -amanitin treatment, transcription of several housekeeping genes was similar to untreated controls. The changes of GFP expression following the short treatment(s) with the drug during repair (24h after I-SceI transfection) were stable for up 3 months in culture. (B) Statistical analysis derived from 28 independent experiments, in which DRGFP cells were exposed to α -amanitin during repair as indicated above. The panel shows the statistical significance of the means (\pm SD). Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs *t* test: **P* < 0.001, ***P* < 0.05.

treated with α -amanitin (6–24 h), sorted 5 days later into H and L clones and analyzed by MEDIP assay with specific antibodies against 5-methylcytidine (anti-5mC) with primers indicated in Figure 3A. Figure 3B shows that anti-5mC recognizes the region 3' to the I-SceI site in the repaired GFP. As predicted, the frequency of 5mC was higher in L clones than in H clones. Consistent with GFP expression profiles shown in Figure 2, α -amanitin increased the levels of 5mC in the L clones. The changes in 5mC levels were specific to the recombinant GFP segment, since the methylation status of the β-actin 5' CpG island did not change (data not shown). Additionally, the methylation status of H19-DMR (Differentially Methylated Region), or UBE2B gene (NC 000005.9), used as positive and negative controls of MEDIP immunoprecipitation, did not change after αamanitin (Figure 3C). To visualize directly the methylation status of the repaired segment of GFP in a-amanitinexposed cells, we performed bisulfite analysis of the GFP gene in treated cells (Supplementary Figure S4). The repaired GFP gene just 3^{\prime} to the DSB was selectively hypermethylated or hypomethylated in L and H cells, respectively. Treatment with α -amanitin for 6 or 24 h accentuated these alterations of methylation: L clones became more methylated and H clones less methylated than untreated cells. Longer exposure (48 h) to a-amanitin did not significantly alter the methylation pattern seen at 6 or 24 h (see the legend of Supplementary Figure S4).

To explore further the local chromatin changes induced by methylation and the effects of α -amanitin on this process, we analyzed sites on the GFP gene that were protected from bisulfite conversion. Briefly, chromatin of L and H cells was fixed with formaldehyde, heat denatured and exposed to bisulfite. By probing GFP DNA, we can detect specific DNA segments protected, most likely by bound proteins, that block C to T conversion by bisulfite or by structures preventing single-strand formation (Figure 3D). The protected segment of GFP corresponds to the region containing the methylated sites at the 3' end of I-SceI, as shown in Supplementary Figure S4. We found no protected areas in the H clones, whether or not they were treated with *a*-amanitin. Exposure to α-amanitin enhanced protection against bisulfite in most of the regions found to have increased DNA methylation after repair (compare Figures 3 and Supplementary Figure S4).

We propose that stalled RNA polymerase during repair favors the recruitment of enzymes that methylate the repaired DNA, consolidating the methylation of L clones. This event occurs only during repair because stalling Pol II before or after DSB repair does not modify GFP methylation and expression.

Transcription modifies methylation of the repaired gene

The α -amanitin experiments suggest that the transcription machinery plays a major role in repair-induced methylation. We chose to inhibit transcription in a different fashion, by treating the cells with actinomycin-D (Act-D) for 6 h after repair. In contrast to α -amanitin, Act-D depletes RNA polymerase II from chromatin (20).

We were unable to use Act-D during repair, owing to inhibition of HR by the drug (data not shown). After repair, 6 h exposure to Act-D did not alter DNA replication or HDR (legend of Figure 4). Under these conditions, the treatment with Act-D prevented the accumulation of H clones at 2 and 4 days later (5 and 7 days after I-SceI transfection), although the number of GFP cells was similar in all samples ($\sim 9.5\%$), and the recombination frequency was unaltered (Figure 4B and data not shown). This finding suggests that the conversion of L to H cells after repair requires transcription (Figure 4B). To confirm the effectiveness of Act-D and to explore the mechanism of inhibition of H cell formation, we measured mRNA levels of several genes. Specifically, we analyzed the accumulation of stable and unstable RNAs: (i) recombinant (Rec) and nonrecombinant (UnRec) GFP; (ii) c-Myc (0.5-1 h half-life) (21); (iii) β-actin (8-12 h halflife; data not shown) (22); and (iv) 18S ribosomal RNA, 10 and 96 h after Act-D treatment. Figure 4C (left panel) shows the expected reduction in c-Myc, unRec and Rec mRNA levels 10h after Act-D treatment (day 3). Rec mRNA was more stable than unRec mRNA. However, 96h after Act-D exposure (day 7), UnRec and c-Myc mRNA concentrations returned to control values, whereas Rec mRNA levels remained lower than controls (Figure 4C, middle panel). Depletion of Pol II after Act-D exposure and the restauration of GFP-bound Pol II were confirmed by ChIP analysis of Un-Rec and Rec DNA (Figure 4C, rightmost panel). After 12-15 days, the increase of methylation and the inhibition of transcription of the GFP gene, induced by Act-D, progressively disappeared. Resumption of transcription promoted methylation loss during this period and accumulation of H cells from L cells (Figure 4B). These changes occurred only 2-3 weeks after the repair and were specific to repaired DNA because Act-D did not change the expression of undamaged GFP and, when administered 27-30 days after repair, did not modify GFP methylation (Supplementary Figure S5). We note that the time window of Act-D responsiveness (3-15 days after exposure to I-SceI) corresponds to the time required to stabilize the L/H cell ratio (Figure 1), suggesting that stabilization of the DNA-chromatin domain induced by HDR occurs in this interval. Collectively, these data indicate that after repair transcription converts a fraction of L to H cells by favoring loss of methylation.

Hierarchical clustering analysis of GFP methylation in repaired clones links discrete methylation states to gene expression variation

The data shown above indicate that the original methylation profiles induced by HDR are remodeled in a transcription-dependent fashion during the first 15 days after repair. The pattern eventually stabilizes, locking the epigenetic status of the repaired DNA in each cell (see Supplementary Movie, cycles I and II/III). By using hierarchical clustering analysis of bisulfite-treated GFP molecules before and after HDR, we were able to track and identify the original methylation profiles (epialleles) induced by HDR and modified during transcription. We

8 Nucleic Acids Research, 2013



Figure 3. DNA methylation and chromatin modifications of the DSB region in cells exposed to α-amanitin during repair. (A) Location of Bcg, Recl and Rec2 primers, which recognize selectively recombinant GFP. Cassette I and II refer to Figure 1. (B) MEDIP with anti-5mC antibodies of recombinant GFP gene. Clones 3 and 4 were treated with α -amanitin for 24 h as described in Figure 2 and sorted 5 days after I-SceI as described in 'Materials and Methods' section. Content of 5mC is higher in L cells compared with H cells, α -amanitin also increases the levels of 5mC in L cells and lowers them in H cells. The results are similar for both amplicons (REC1 and REC2). All data derive from three independent experiments performed in triplicate (mean \pm SD; n = 9). Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs r = 1 test: *P < 0.01 as compared with the each control (α -amanitin treated versus untreated cells). Differences between cells (H versus L) were tested for statistical significance using Student's t test: P < 0.01. (C) MEDIP analysis of the methylated H19 DMR (differentially methylated region) and the hypomethylated UBE2B genes in clone 3 and 4, treated with α -amanitin, as indicated in B. Longer exposure (48 h) to α -amanitin did not significantly alter the methylation pattern seen at 6 or 24 h assayed by bisulfite analysis (Supplementary Figure S4). (D) Bisulfite protection of GFP chromatin in L and H cells. Clone 4 cells were treated with α-amanitin for 6 or 24 h after transfection and sorted as indicated in 'Materials and Methods' section. Chromatin was purified as described in 'Materials and Methods' section, denatured and treated with sodium bisulfite. DNA was extracted, amplified, cloned in TOPO TA vector and sequenced. The amplified segment corresponds to the Rec1 region and primers were designed for the bisulfiteconverted (+) strand. The boxes represent stretches of nonconverted dCs present in the GFP sequence. At least 15 independent GFP molecules were analyzed for each treatment, including cells not exposed to I-SceI (C). The numbers with the grayscale boxes represent the percentage of the molecules protected from bisulfite conversion in the regions indicated by boxes. The scale shows the coordinates of the GFP sequence relative to the DSB (indicated as 0 or I-SceI/BcgI site).



Figure 4. Transient exposure of recombinant cells to Actinomycin D increases methylation of the repaired gene. Panel (A) shows the time frame of actinomycin-D (Act-D) treatment and the assays performed. The cells were transfected with L-Scel expression vector and 72h later were exposed to Act-D (0.05 mg/ml) for 6 h. Act-D did not induce detectable modifications of the cell cycle by PI analysis (G1 50 ± 2 versus 50 ± 3; S 23 ± 1.2 versus 25 ± 1.6; G2/M 27 ± 1.6 versus 25 ± 1.8 in the presence of 6 h Act-D); the cells were viable and RNA polymerase II was depleted from the chromatin. Five days after the treatment, the recombination frequency, measured by qPCR and GFP transcription were comparable between treated and untreated cells. The arrows indicate the time window of RNA analysis, MEDIP, FACS and cell sorting, relative to I-SceI transfection. (continued)

10 Nucleic Acids Research, 2013

also were able to link the methylation states of epialleles to GFP expression levels, since the bisulfite analysis was carried out on fluorescent-sorted cells. Clones expressing intermediate levels of GFP (L2 and H2) contain a set of GFP epialleles originating from a common GFP precursor segregating in the L fraction. This epiallele precursor in L cells generates many similar epialleles as a result of losing methyl groups (Supplementary Figures S6 and S7). These sites are shared by L2 and H2 clones and are located in 2 symmetric domains downstream of the DSB, spanning the length of a nucleosome (150 bp) (Supplementary Figure S7C and D). The sites are demethylated by 5-AzadC and methylated by Act-D treatments (Supplementary Figure S7C and D or data not shown). These data definitely link gene expression to specific methylation states and explain the stochastic expression of GFP after HDR (see Supplementary Movie).

DNMT3a is transiently recruited to repaired GFP and stimulates DNA methylation

We previously reported that the hypermethylated L cell population was not found in a mutant lacking the maintenance DNMT1. In contrast, hypermethylation of the repaired gene was seen in both DNMT3a^{-/-} and DNMT3b^{-/-} mutants (9). However, loss of methylation induced by repair in stable DNMT1 mutant cells may be the indirect consequence of lack of propagation of methylation in daughter cells by DNMT1. Since large stretches of DNA are resynthesized during homologous recombination and are devoid of methylation marks, it is possible that de novo DNMTs such as DNMT3a and 3b have a role during or early after repair, and that DNMT1 may propagate the methylation marks set by DNMT3a and/or 3 b during replication. To investigate this possibility, we analyzed the recruitment of DNMT3a and 3b to the I-SceI-cleaved chromatin. Figure 5A and B show that both DNMT3a and DNMT3b were recruited to the I-SceI site 24 h after the onset of DSB formation and rapidly disappeared (48 h). We then selectively silenced DNMT3a and 3b during repair and analyzed the distribution of L and H cells. Figure 5C shows that the yield of L cells was significantly reduced and both the number and GFP fluorescence intensity of H cells increased when DNMT3a expression was silenced. In contrast, depletion of DNMT3b did not alter the ratio of L and H cells (Figure 5C). Expression of wild-type enzyme in DNMT3a-silenced cells prevented the loss of L cells. The changes of GFP expression levels were caused by DNA methylation, since the rescue of L cells by DNMT3a was prevented by treatment with 5azadC (Figure 5C).

In conclusion, we propose that DNMT3a helps the formation of hypermethylated clones and DNMT1 propagates these methylation patterns through at least several generations. This finding reinforces the notion that maintenance and de novo methyl transferases cooperate (23).

Np95 is recruited to repaired GFP and stimulates DNA methylation

We reported that DNMT1 was required for hypermethylation of repaired GFP. We now ask if proteins that modify DNMT1 activity influence DNA methylation at the repaired DSB. We probed for Np95 (also known as UHRF1 or ICBP90), a protein that binds to DNMT1, DNMT3a, DNMT3b and PCNA and stimulates methylation of hemi-methylated DNA (24-26). ChIP analysis of GFP chromatin from clones 3 and 4 showed that Np95 preferentially accumulated on the repaired chromatin of the L clones. Treatment with α-amanitin during repair significantly amplified or decreased Np95 recruitment to GFP chromatin in L or H cells, respectively (Figure 6A). Note that the binding of Np95 to H19, UEB2B or β -actin CpG island chromatin was unaffected by α -amanitin (Figure 6B and data not shown). Thus, the association of Np95 with the DSB of GFP DNA appears to be linked to hypermethylation and reduced GFP expression in the L cell population.

To test whether Np95 recruitment to recombinant chromatin was relevant to repair-induced methylation, we selectively silenced Np95 expression during recombination.

Figure 4. Continued (B) FACS analysis (a representative of five independent experiments) was performed as described in Figure 1 at 5, 7 and 12 days after I-SceI transfection (2, 4 and 9 days after Act-D treatment, respectively). Panel (C) Left. GFP mRNA accumulation assayed by qPCR after Act-D treatment (3 days after I-SceI transfection and 10h after Act-D, or 7 days after I-SceI and 96h after Act-D) normalized to 18S RNA. Recombinant (Rec) and nonrecombinant (UnRec) mRNA levels are expressed as percent of untreated levels \pm SD because the absolute mRNA levels cannot be compared because of the differences of the efficiency of the primers. The same results were obtained normalizing GFP RNA to GAPDH mRNA. Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs t test; *P < 0.01 as compared with the each untreated control. Right. RNA polymerase II recruitment on recombinant and nonrecombinant GFP chromatin after Act-D treatment. ChIP with anti-Pol II large fragment antibodies of chromatin extracted from Act-D-treated cells 3 days after I-SceI transfection (10h after Act-D) or 7 days after I-SceI (96h after Act-D). *P < 0.01 compared with the each untreated control; **P < 0.01, 3 days compared to 7 days time point; the average of immunopre-cipitated DNA with a control Ig is reported on the bar graph. (D) GFP mRNA levels and MEDIP assay at day 8 on sorted GFP⁺ cells. Left: Recombinant (Rec) and nonrecombinant (UnRec) primers were used to quantify GFP mRNA by qPCR and to measure the contamination of nonrecombinant GFP negative cells. The values were normalized to GAPDH (white columns) or 18S (black columns) RNAs. Rec mRNA levels are shown as percent of the levels found in control cells (I-SceI transfected/Act-D untreated cells); UnRec mRNA levels are expressed as percent of control (untransfected DRGFP cells) (mean of three experiments in triplicate \pm SD). *P < 0.01 as compared with untreated control. Right: 5mC content was carried out on sorted GFP⁺ cells (H and L) as indicated in panel A. Specifically, we analyzed the 5mC content of (i) a segment of the GFP promoter, 1 kb upstream the DSB (oligo b and c, see Supplementary Table S1); (ii) the region 3' to the DSB, which was methylated by HDR; and (iii) H19 and UE2B genes, as controls of hypermethylated and undermethylated genes, respectively, and to monitor the efficiency of MEDIP assays. The 5mC levels in these regions, except the segment 3' to the DSB, were not modified by 6h Act-D treatment (data not shown). 5mC levels are expressed as percentage of input (mean \pm SD of three experiments in triplicate); the average of immunoprecipitated DNA with a control Ig is reported on the bar graph. **P* < 0.01 as compared with the each untreated control. Act-D, administered 27, 30 and 35 days after I-SceI for 6h, transiently inhibited transcription, but did not change GFP gene methylation.



Figure 5. DNMT3a and 3b are recruited to the DSB early during repair, but only DNMT3a is necessary for generation of L cells (A and B) Recruitment of DNMT3a, DNMT3b to the *I-SceI* chromatin. Cells were transfected with I-SceI and 24 h, 48 h or 7 days later, were fixed, collected, chromatin-extracted and subjected to ChIP analysis with specific anti-DNMT3a and DNMT3b antibodies. The specific primers used to amplify the GFP cassette I are indicated in (A). Data represent the fraction of immunoprecipitated DNA relative to the input chromatin-DNA present in the reactions (% of input; mean \pm SD; $n \ge 9$); the average of immunoprecipitated DNA with a control Ig is reported on each bar graph. *P < 0.01, paired t test. (C) Silencing the expression of DNMT3a reduces L cells. Cells were electroporated with the siRNA targeting DNMT3a and DNMT3b (see 'Materials and Methods' section and protocol S1) and analyzed 7 days later, when L and H cells were clearly separated. On the bottom left

(continued)

We measured GFP expression, DNA methylation in the repaired segment and the frequency of recombination. Figures 6C (left panel) and Supplementary Figure S8 show that silencing of Np95 expression significantly enhanced fluorescence intensity in both the L and H cell fractions. Np95 depletion did not affect recombination frequency (Supplementary Figure S8A) but induced loss of methylation at the 3' end of the repaired GFP gene (Figure 6C, right panel). Under the same conditions, Np95 depletion did not modify the methylation status of β -actin CpG island, or stably methylated gene, H19 (DMR) (see the legend of Figure 6C). Overexpression of mouse wild-type Np95 reversed the effects of the silencing and reduced GFP expression (Supplementary Figure S8B).

Np95 interacts with several proteins involved in chromatin remodeling, specifically those that set repressive marks on histones, such as SUV39 and EZH2 (27,28). Indeed, 24h after DSB induction, the I-SceI chromatin shows an accumulation of histone repressive (H3K9 m2-m3) and a reduction of positive H3K4 (m2 and m3) marks, respectively [(13) and data not shown]. To test if SUV39 and EZH2, which also interact with DNMT1 (27,28), play a role on DNA methylation induced by damage and repair, we silenced their expression during repair and determined the distribution of L and H cells. Knockdown of these proteins did not significantly modify the intensity of the GFP signal in either L or H cells (Supplementary Figure S9A). Although a modest decrease in GFP expression in SUV39-depleted cells was caused by inhibition of recombination (Supplementary Figure S9C), the levels of GFP methylation were not modified in cells in which SUV39 and EZH2 were silenced (Supplementary Figure S9D).

GADD45a binds DSB and inhibits de novo methylation induced by HDR

To identify a DNMT1 partner that inhibits DNA methylation during repair and generates H cells, we monitored GADD45a (G45a) expression and localization after DSB formation. We recently found that GADD45A binds hemi-methylated DNA, inhibits DNMT1 *in vitro* and *in vivo* and reduces the fraction of L cells (18), suggesting that GADD45A promotes loss of methylation on the repaired DNA (29,30).

We first measured GADD45A mRNA levels in cells exposed to I-SceI or to the DNA-damaging agent, etoposide. GADD45A mRNA was induced by I-SceI and decreased to pre-induced levels 48 h after I-SceI transfection (Supplementary Figure S10). We next asked if GADD45A accumulated on DNA during HDR. ChIP analysis shows that GADD45A was recruited to GFP chromatin 48 h after I-SceI expression, confirming a previous observation (18). Recruitment of GADD45A, as well as DNMT1 and Pol II, was further stimulated by α -amanitin (Figure 7A and B). Note that DNMT1 accumulation on MGMT and p16, genes normally methylated in Hela cells, was not stimulated by I-SceI expression or α -amanitin (Figure 7A, lower panel).

We next tested the effects of silencing GADD45A on recombinant DNA methylation. Figure 6C shows that GADD45A knockdown (Supplementary Figure S11) inhibited GFP expression at 2 and 4 days after the damage. However, although reproducible, this effect, which was not noted previously (18), was transient; it was statistically significant at day 2 and progressively disappeared at 4 and 7 days after I-SceI expression (Figure 7C and Supplementary Figure S11 panels A and C). The consequences on GFP expression of GADD45A silencing at 2 days were reversed by co-transfection with a mouse GADD45A expression vector (Figure 7D, left panel). GADD45A silencing did not alter the frequency of recombination (Supplementary Figure S11D) but methylation of GFP was significantly stimulated, as shown by MEDIP analysis (Figure 7D, right panel). Under the same conditions, GADD45A depletion did not modify the methylation status of β-actin CpG island or of stably methylated genes, such as H19 (DMR) (Figure 7D).

The transient effects of GADD45A depletion on GFP expression may be dependent on the transient rise of the protein (18) and mRNA levels during damage and repair (Supplementary Figure S10). To address this issue, we overexpressed the wild-type protein, 2 days after I-SceI transfection, when endogenous protein levels were already low. Under these conditions, Ga45a stimulated GFP fluorescence intensity in H cells for longer periods (4–7 days after I-SceI), but at day 10 from the DSB, the effects disappeared (Supplementary Figure S11E and data not shown). However, 1 month after the DSB or in cells expressing CMV-EGFP, forced expression or induction of GADD45A by etoposide did not modify GFP levels (see the legend of Figure 7).

Taken together, these results indicate that Np95 and GADD45A favor the generation of L and H cells, respectively, during HDR.

DISCUSSION

Mechanism of DNA repair-induced methylation

The results shown here argue for a link between HDR and DNA methylation at the site of a repaired DSB. Without DNA damage and repair, the expression of GFP is stable and uniform (Supplementary Figure S6, the red peak). DSB formation within GFP and repair by HDR

Figure 5. Continued

panel, statistical analysis derived from three independent experiments is shown. *P < 0.01, paired *t*-test comparing GFP intensity, Chi Square ($\chi 2$) comparing the percentage of L/H cells. The horizontal and vertical arrows in the central inset indicate the shift in fluorescence intensity and in the distribution of L and H cells, respectively. Treatment with 5azadC (10 µM for 2 days, 48 h after I-SceI transfection) rescued completely the loss of L cells (intensity and % GFP⁺ cells) induced by DNMT3a overexpression in siDNMT3a-silenced cells (data not shown). (D) Western blot analysis of DNMT3a and 3b in silenced cells. Total cell extracts were prepared 48 h after electroporation and analyzed by immunoblot with the specific antibodies indicated. On the right is shown quantitative analysis derived from three immunoblots (mean \pm SD).



Figure 6. Np95 (UHRF1) is recruited to repaired GFP and stimulates DNA methylation. (A) ChIP with anti-Np95 antibodies of sorted cells exposed to α -amanitin during repair. Clones 3 and 4 were transfected with I-SceI and treated with α -amanitin for 24 h as described in Figure 2. The cells were sorted 5 days after I-SceI transfection and chromatin was collected from formaldehyde-fixed cells and subjected to ChIP analysis with specific antibodies to Np95. Primers Bcg and Rec2 were used to amplify recombinant GFP DNA. The data derive from three independent experiments and bodies to the performed in triplicate (mean \pm SD; n = 9). Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pair t-test: *P < 0.01 as compared with the each control (α -amanitin treated versus untreated cells). Differences between cells (H versus L) were tested for statistical significance using Student's t-test: **P < 0.01. (B) ChIP analysis of Np95 on H19 DMR and UBE2B genes. qPCR was carried out with specific H19 DMR and UBE2B primers on the same samples indicated above. The fraction of immunoprecipitated DNA by control Ig is reported on each bar graph. (C) DRGFP cells (pool of clones; clone 3 and 4 are not shown here) were transiently transfected with a mixture of siRNAs targeting specifically human NP95 or control scrambled siRNA (ctrl) and the mouse I-SceI expression vector (see 'Materials and Methods' section). Six days later, the cells were subjected to FACS analysis and MEDIP. The left panel shows a representative experiment: arrows indicate the shift in silenced cells of GFP fluorescence intensity. The columns below the fluorescence plot show (i) the number of GFP^+ cells (Tot, expressed as percentage of cells); (ii) the mean fluorescence intensity (Int.); and (iii) Percentage of L and H cells on GFP^+ cells. Mean fluorescence intensity at day 7 increased from 10 to 37 in L cells and from 336 to 460 in H cells (left panel). FACS analysis was performed in triplicate in at least three experiments. Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pair t-test: *P < 0.001 as compared with the each control (siRNA-treated versus untreated cells). Samples expressing NP95 wild-type and control cells were treated with 1 µM 5azadC for 1 day (48 h after I-SceI), and the differences in fluorescence intensity was used to quantify methylation-dependent changes of GFP expression. The panel on the right shows the results of MEDIP immunoprecipitation with anti-5mC antibodies in control and siRNA-treated samples. Np95 depletion by siRNA did not modify the methylation status of stably methylated genes, such as H19 (DMR) and β-actin CpG island. *P < 0.01 for t-value (matched pair test) relative to the cells treated with control scramble siRNA (CTRL). Data are expressed as mean \pm SD, n = 9; the average of immunoprecipitated DNA with a control Ig is reported on the bar graph.

14 Nucleic Acids Research, 2013



Figure 7. GADD45 is recruited to the DSB and transiently inhibits de novo methylation induced by HDR. (A) ChIP analysis with anti-GADD45A, DNMT1 and RNA polymerase II large fragment antibodies in HeLa cells, transfected (36 h) with I-SceI. Twelve hours after transfection, an aliquot of cells was treated for 24h with α -amanitin and processed as described in 'Materials and Methods' section. Bcg and Rec1 primers were used for semiquantitative PCR. Two methylated genes, MGM and p16, were used as controls for DNMT1 ChIP. Control IgG represents an average of nonimmune immunoglobulins used in ChIP. (B) Quantitative analysis by qPCR of at least three ChIP experiments in triplicate ($n \ge 9$). Differences between treatments were tested for statistical significance using Student's matched pairs *t*-test: *P < 0.01 as compared with uncleaved control; **P < 0.01 compared with I-SceI. The average of immunoprecipitated DNA with a nonimmune Ig is reported on the bar graph. (C) DRGFP cells (pool of clones) were transiently transfected with siRNA pools targeting specifically GADD45A or control scrambled siRNA (ctrl) and (continued)

significantly alter the methylation pattern of GFP in two steps. We propose that some actors at this phase are DNMT1/3 a, Np95 and GADD45A, which transiently maintain the processed DSB 3' segment hemi-methylated, generates until replication methylated and hypomethylated daughter molecules. Figure 8 shows a simplified scheme describing the main events during and after DSB repair: (i) DNMT1 and DNMT3a are recruited to the DSB with Ga45a and NP95. DNMT3a is recruited in the first 24h after damage and transiently cooperates with DNMT1 to methylate repaired DNA. At 48 h, Np95 and Ga45a amplify or limit transiently, respectively, DNMT1 activity on the hemi-methylated DNA, until replication duplicates the methylated and unmethylated DNA strands. This is better shown in the video presented in the Supplementary Movie, in which time lapse microscopy offers a unique snapshot into homologous repair. The appareance of the GFP signal in I-SceI synchronized cells can be monitored in the first and second cycle after recombination, relative to the GFP signal, generated by HDR. In the first cycle, H and L cells are formed from the same cell (square in the Supplementary Movie); in subsequent cycles, H and L cells stably propagate in culture the H or L phenotype (circle in the Supplementary Movie); (ii) After repair, transcription resumes at day 2-3 after DSB and progressively modifies local methylation profiles until the local domains of the I-SceI chromatin (loop A in H cells and loop C in L cells) are stabilize. We believe that this strand-selection mechanism accounts for the $\sim 1.1 \, \text{L}/$ H ratio early after repair (Figures. 1 and 4). In fact, GADD45A exerts its action early during repair (2-4 days), when the L/H ratio is close to 1 and before significant remodeling of methylation occurs (Figures 1, 4 and 7). Stalled RNA Pol II by α -amanitin during repair may facilitate targeting DNMT1/3 a complex to the 3' end (-)transcribed strand, thus promoting hyper-methylation of the 300 bp repaired DNA segment that lies 3' to the DSB relative to transcription orientation (Figure 3D and Supplementary Figure S4). The 3' end (+) strand, free from transcription proteins, probably is more prone to invade and find the homologous region to direct the annealing, the synthesis and ultimately the repair of the DSB (Synthesis Directed Strand Annealing, SDSA) (31). This

mechanism may account for the relatively high efficient HDR in our system.

Remodeling of methylation by transcription after repair

The second step of methylation induced by HDR begins ~48 h after formation of the DSB. At this point, repair is terminated, but chromatin and DNA continue to undergo epigenetic changes (9,13). H cells progressively increase and are similar in terms of methylation profile to a subpopulation of L cells (L2 in Supplementary Figure S6). Accumulation of these L2/H cells is favored by continuous transcription of GFP because transient inhibition of transcription after repair shifts the L/H ratio and favors accumulation of methylated clones (L2 in Figure 4D). We obtained essentially the same results shown in Figure 4 by transiently blocking transcription after repair with a dominant negative cdk9-expression vector, which inhibits phosphorylation of elongating RNA polymerase II (G.R., unpublished observations). However, 27, 30 and 35 days after DNA damage, inhibition of transcription by exposure to Act-D or expression of the dominant negative cdk9 did not alter methylation or expression of GFP (Supplementary Figure S5). These data indicate that inhibition of transcription per se does not trigger de novo methylation (33-35) and suggest that transcription may favor active demethylation. In fact, depletion of base excision repair (BER) enzymes (OGG1; APE1) or TDG increased methylation of repaired GFP similarly to Act-D treatment (data not shown), in agreement with the notion that transcription is associated with DNA methylation-demethylation (32,36) and DNA oxidation cycles (37). We note that the different effects of α-amanitin and Act-D are related to the ability of these drugs to increase (α-amanitin, Supplementary Figure S2B) or deplete (Figure 4D) RNA polymerase II from chromatin: (i) Stalled pol II during repair increases targeting and recruitment of DNMT1-Np95 on the DSB and favors accumulation of L clones; (ii) depletion or loss of pol II by slow resolution of Act-D/ DNA inhibit transcription and active demethylation.

We suggest that transcription of damaged-repaired DNA is associated with stochastic replacement of methylated C by BER or nucleotide excision repair

Figure 7. Continued

the I-SceI expression vector (see 'Materials and Methods' section). After 2, 4 and 7 days, the cells were subjected to FACS analysis as described in Figure 1. FACS analysis was performed in triplicate in at least three experiments. Differences in GFP expression between control and GADD45A-silenced cells were tested for statistical significance using the Chi Square test, T(X) (Population Comparison module of the FlowJo software from Tree Star). Differences of L and H (percentage and intensity) were tested for statistical significance using Student's *t* test: **P* < 0.01 (see Supplementary Figure S10). χ^2 value (4.7), 2 days after I-SceI (control and GADD45A-silenced cells) (*P* < 0.01); at day 4 and 7, χ^2 value was not discriminant as day 2, although differences in fluorescence intensity of L an H cells between the control and GADD45A-silenced cells were significant (*P* < 0.02). All samples were treated with 1µM 5azadC for 1 day (48 h after I-SceI) to quantify methylation-dependent changes. (D) Left panel. Forced expression of GADD45A. GFP fluorescence and Rec mRNA were analyzed 4 days later. The levels of specific GADD45A mRNA, the frequency of recombination in GADD45A-depleted cells and the statistical analysis of GFP expression are shown in Supplementary Figure S8. Differences between populations (control and GADD45A-silenced cells) were tested for statistical significance using the Chi Square test (Population Comparison module of the FlowJo software). Cells expressing CMV-EGFP-treated with etoposide or transfected with Ga45a expressing vector did not change GFP expression. Right panel. 5mC content of recombinant GFP in cells silenced for GADD45A. Four days after transfection, the cells were subjected to MEDIP assay. GADD45A depletion by siRNA did not modify the methylation status of stably methylated genes, such as H19 (DMR) and β -actin CpG island. **P* < 0.01 for *t* value (matched pair test) relative to cells treated with control scramble siRNA (CTRL). All the asamples in independent experiments

16 Nucleic Acids Research, 2013



Figure 8. Targeted methylation during and after homologous repair. The cartoon represents a schematic model illustrating the events during and after repair. The DSB undergoes $5' \rightarrow 3'$ end resection and one of the 3' free single strand end invades the DNA of the GFP cassette II. The half *I-SceI* site is removed (flap removal) and new DNA is synthesized. Eventually, the invading strand returns to the original configuration and directs the synthesis of new DNA at the *BcgI* site corresponding to the DSB, according to the SDSA model (Synthesis Directed Strand Annealing) (31). We propose that the asymmetric distribution of methylated CpGs in repaired GFP is caused by selective invasion of the (+) strand. The (-) strand, blocked by stalled RNA Pol II (DNMT1 and 3a), becomes a preferential target of DNMT1-Np95. The hemi-methylated DNA is replicated and generates H and L cells. After repair, transcription resumes and RNA Pol II-DNMT1 is associated with methylation/demethylation cycles (32) that in 15 days may remove some methyl groups in a subpopulation of L cells, leading to the conversion of L2 to H 2 cells.

(NER) followed by repair synthesis (38,39). The events in this phase are distinct from those leading to the generation of H and L cells during repair, which are amplified by stalled RNA polymerase II and are dependent on Np95 and Ga45a. Under our conditions, GADD45A, transiently induced by DSB, recruited to the DSB, enhanced accumulation of hypomethylated clones (H) by inhibiting DNMT1 [Figure 7, Supplementary Figure S11 and (18)] and disappeared in 3–4 days. This inhibition may represent a barrier to spreading of repair-induced methylation. The opposing role of Np95 and GADD45A on DNMT1 activity is not new because DNMT1 stimulation and inhibition by Np95 and Ga45a, respectively, are required to maintain progenitor function in self-renewing somatic tissue (40).

Evolution and stability of epialleles: qualitative analysis of methylation

Our data show that the repaired DSB in the GFP gene is marked locally by de novo methylation. Unlike the GFP system, in which we induced a site-specific DSB, DSBs in genomic DNA are essentially random in terms of sequence specificity, although the overall distribution is nonrandom, due to chromatin organization (41). Assuming that methylation marks these DSBs after homologous repair, the overall distribution of methylated sites in genomic DNA will appear random in the absence of selective pressure. We have extended our analysis to homologous targeting of GFP in ES cells and we find that genetically identical clones express variable GFP levels, due to de novo methylation or targeted gene (data not shown).

In our system, qualitative analysis of the methylation profiles, i.e. the location of methylated CpG in the various GFP molecules, 3' end to the DSB, is able to distinguish repaired GFP molecules from nonrecombinant or uncleaved molecules (Supplementary Figures S6 and S7). This discrimination is based on the relatedness of methylation profiles, not on the total methyl CpG content. GFP DNA molecules, shown in Supplementary Figures S4 and S6, can be considered epigenetic alleles because their methylation profiles are stable and are inherited in human and mouse cells over several generations. We have applied the same type of analysis shown in Supplementary Figures S6 and S7 to several somatically methylated genes and we find that the epialleles are stable, evolve rapidly following DNA damage and can be individually tracked in a complex mixtures of cells. HDR-induced specific methylation states may be ultimately responsible for stochastic gene expression in populations of mammalian cells.

In conclusion, we propose that DNA methylation represents a damage-repair code that modifies the expression of genes in cell populations and drives adaptation to environmental challenges. Selection of methylated alleles in each cell may be relevant for the rapid evolution of cancer cell phenotypes.

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Supplementary Data are available at NAR Online, including [42].

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank A. Simeone and D. Acampora for providing us the ES clones with EGFP gene targeted to the rosa 26 locus; G. Tell, G. Scholes and G. Diez Roux for helpful comments and F. Porcellini for video editing.

FUNDING

AIRC IG [11364 to V.E.A.]; Epigenomics Flagship Project—EPIGEN (to C.N.R.) and Fondazione Medicina Molecolare e Terapia Cellulare, Universita' Politecnica delle Marche. Funding for open access charge: Epigenomics Flagship Project—EPIGEN (to C.N.R.).

Conflict of interest statement. None declared.

REFERENCES

- Rizwana, R. and Hahn, P. (1999) CpG methylation reduces genomic instability. J. Cell Sci., 112, 4513–4519.
- Fu,A.Q., Genereux,D.P., Stöger,R., Laird,C.D. and Stephens,M. (2010) Statistical inference of transmission fidelity of DNA methylation patterns over somatic cell divisions in mammals. *Ann. Appl. Stat.*, 4, 871–892.
 Probst,A.V., Dunleavy,E. and Almouzni,G. (2009) Epigenetic
- Probst, A.V., Dunleavy, E. and Almouzni, G. (2009) Epigenetic inheritance during the cell cycle. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*, 10, 192–206.
- Cho,Y.H., Yazici,H., Wu,H.C., Terry,M.B., Gonzalez,K., Qu,M., Dalay,N. and Santella,R.M. (2010) Aberrant promoter hypermethylation and genomic hypomethylation in tumor adjacent normal tissues and blood from breast cancer patients. *Anticancer Res.*, 30, 2489–2496.
- Avvedimento, E.V., Obici, S., Sanchez, M., Gallo, A., Musti, A. and Gottesman, M.E. (1989) Reactivation of thyroglobulin gene expression in transformed thyroid cells by 5-azacytidine. *Cell*, 58, 1135–1142.
- Angrisano, T., Sacchetti, S., Natale, F., Cerrato, A., Pero, R., Keller, S., Peluso, S., Perillo, B., Avvedimento, V.E., Fusco, A. *et al.* (2011) Chromatin and DNA methylation dynamics during retinoic acid-induced RET gene transcriptional activation in neuroblastoma cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 39, 1993–2006.
- Halazonetis, T.D., Gorgoulis, V.G. and Bartek, J. (2008) An oncogene-induced DNA damage model for cancer development. *Science*, 319, 1352–1355.
- Lengauer, C., Kinzler, K.W. and Vogelstein, B. (1997) DNA methylation and genetic instability in colorectal cancer cells. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA*, 94, 2545–2450.
- Cuozzo, C., Porcellini, A., Angrisano, T., Morano, A., Lee, B., Di Pardo, A., Messina, S., Iuliano, R., Fusco, A., Santillo, M.R. *et al.* (2007) DNA damage homology-directed repair and DNA methylation. *PLoS Genet.*, 3, e110.
- Jasin, M. (1996) Genetic manipulation of genomes with rarecutting endonucleases. *Trends Genet.*, 12, 224–228.
- Pierce, A.J., Johnson, R.D., Thompson, L.H. and Jasin, M. (1999) XRCC3 promotes homology-directed repair of DNA damage in mammalian cells. *Genes Dev.*, 13, 2633–2638.
- Rountree, M.R. and Selker, E.U. (1997) DNA methylation inhibits elongation but not initiation of transcription in Neurospora crassa. *Genes Dev.*, 11, 2383–2395.
- O'Hagan,H.M., Mohammad,H.P. and Baylin,S.B. (2008) Double strand breaks can initiate gene silencing and SIRT1-dependent onset of DNA methylation in an exogenous promoter CpG island. *PLoS Genet.*, 4, e1000155.
- Lee,G.E., Kim,J.H., Taylor,M. and Muller,M.T. (2010) DNA methyltransferase 1-associated protein (DMAP1) is a co-repressor that stimulates DNA methylation globally and locally at sites of double strand break repair. J. Biol. Chem., 285, 37630–37640.

18 Nucleic Acids Research, 2013

- 15. Ha,K., Lee,G.E., Palii,S.S., Brown,K.D., Takeda,Y., Liu,K., Bhalla,K.N. and Robertson,K.D. (2011) Rapid and transient recruitment of DNMT1 to DNA double-strand breaks is mediated by its interaction with multiple components of the DNA damage response machinery. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **20**, 126–140
- damage response machinery. *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, 20, 126–140.
 16. Sandovici, I., Kassovska-Bratinova, S., Vaughan, J.E., Stewart, R., Leppert, M. and Sapienza, C. (2006) Human imprinted chromosomal regions are historical hot-spots of recombination. *PLoS Genet.*, 2, e101.
- Sigurdsson, M.I., Smith, A.V., Bjornsson, H.T. and Jonsson, J.J. (2009) HapMap methylation-associated SNPs markers of germline DNA methylation positively correlate with regional levels of human meiotic recombination. *Genome Res.*, 19, 581–589.
- Lee, B., Morano, A., Porcellini, A. and Muller, M.T. (2012) GADD45α inhibition of DNMT1 dependent DNA methylation during homology directed DNA repair. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 40, 2481–2493.
- Gong,X.Q., Nedialkov,Y.A. and Burton,Z.F. (2004) Alphaamanitin blocks translocation by human RNA polymerase II. J. Biol. Chem., 279, 27422–27427.
- Jones, E., Kimura, H., Vigneron, M., Wang, Z., Roeder, R.G. and Cook, P.R. (2000) Isolation and characterization of monoclonal antibodies directed against subunits of human RNA polymerases I, II, and III. *Exp. Cell Res.*, 254, 163–172.
- Ioannidis, P., Havredaki, M., Courtis, N. and Trangas, T. (1996) In vivo generation of 3' and 5' truncated species in the process of c-myc mRNA decay. Nucleic Acids Res., 24, 4969–4977.
- Leclerc, G.J., Leclerc, G.M. and Barredo, J.C. (2002) Real-time RT-PCR analysis of mRNA decay: half-life of Beta-actin mRNA in human leukemia CCRF-CEM and Nalm-6 cell lines. *Cancer Cell Int.*, 2, 1.
- Walton,E.L., Francastel,C. and Velasco,G. (2011) Maintenance of DNA methylation: Dnmt3b joins the dance. *Epigenetics*, 6, 1373–1377.
- 24. Sharif, J., Muto, M., Takebayashi, S., Suetake, I., Iwamatsu, A., Endo, T. A., Shinga, J., Mizutani-Koseki, Y., Toyoda, T., Okamura, K. et al. (2007) The SRA protein Np95 mediates epigenetic inheritance by recruiting Dnmt1 to methylated DNA. *Nature*, 450, 908–912.
- 25. Meilinger, D., Fellinger, K., Bultmann, S., Rothbauer, U., Bonapace, I.M., Klinkert, W.E., Spada, F. and Leonhardt, H. (2009) Np95 interacts with de novo DNA methyltransferases, Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b, and mediates epigenetic silencing of the viral CMV promoter in embryonic stem cells. *EMBO Rep.*, 10, 1259–1264.
- Rottach,A., Frauer,C., Pichler,G., Bonapace,I.M., Spada,F. and Leonhardt,H. (2010) The multi-domain protein Np95 connects DNA methylation and histone modification. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 38, 1796–1804.
- Papait, R., Pistore, C., Negri, D., Pecoraro, D., Cantarini, L. and Bonapace, I.M. (2007) Np95 is implicated in pericentromeric heterochromatin replication and in major satellite silencing. *Mol. Biol. Cell*, 18, 1098–1106.
- Hervouet, E., Lalier, L., Debien, E., Cheray, M., Geairon, A., Rogniaux, H., Loussouarn, D., Martin, S.A., Vallette, F.M. and Cartron, P.F. (2010) Disruption of Dnmt1/PCNA/UHRF1

interactions promotes tumorigenesis from human and mice glial cells. *PLoS One*, **5**, e11333.

- Barreto,G., Schäfer,A., Marhold,J., Stach,D., Swaminathan,S.K., Handa,V., Döderlein,G., Maltry,N., Wu,W., Lyko,F. *et al.* (2007) Gadd45a promotes epigenetic gene activation by repair-mediated DNA demethylation. *Nature*, 445, 671–675.
- Jin,S.G., Guo,C. and Pfeifer,G.P. (2008) GADD45A does not promote DNA demethylation. *PLoS Genet.*, 4, e1000013.
- Helleday, T., Lo, J., van Gent, D.C. and Engelward, B.P. (2007) DNA double-strand break repair: from mechanistic understanding to cancer treatment. *DNA Repair (Amst)*, 6, 923–935.
 Métivier, R., Gallais, R., Tiffoche, C., Le Péron, C., Jurkowska, R.Z.,
- Métivier, R., Gallais, R., Tiffoche, C., Le Péron, C., Jurkowska, R.Z. Carmouche, R.P., Ibberson, D., Barath, P., Demay, F., Reid, G. *et al.* (2008) Cyclical DNA methylation of a transcriptionally active promoter. *Nature*, 452, 45–50.
- Mutskov,V. and Felsenfeld,G. (2004) Silencing of transgene transcription precedes methylation of promoter DNA and histone H3 lysine 9. *EMBO J.*, 23, 138–149.
- 34. Hinshelwood, R.A., Melki, J.R., Huschtscha, L.I., Paul, C., Song, J.Z., Stirzaker, C., Reddel, R.R. and Clark, S.J. (2009) Aberrant de novo methylation of the p16INK4A CpG island is initiated post gene silencing in association with chromatin remodelling and mimics nucleosome positioning. *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, 18, 3098–3109.
- Stirzaker, C., Song, J.Z., Davidson, B. and Clark, S.J. (2004) Transcriptional gene silencing promotes DNA hypermethylation through a sequential change in chromatin modifications in cancer cells. *Cancer Res.*, 64, 3871–3877.
- Kangaspeska,S., Stride,B., Métivier,R., Polycarpou-Schwarz,M., Ibberson,D., Carmouche,R.P., Benes,V., Gannon,F. and Reid,G. (2008) Transient cyclical methylation of promoter DNA. *Nature*, 452, 112–115.
- Perillo, B., Ombra, M.N., Bertoni, A., Cuozzo, C., Sacchetti, S., Sasso, A., Chiariotti, L., Malorni, A., Abbondanza, C. and Avvedimento, E.V. (2008) DNA oxidation as triggered by H3K9me2 demethylation drives estrogen-induced gene expression. *Science*, 319, 202–206.
- Le May,N., Fradin,D., Iltis,I., Bougnères,P. and Egly,J.M. (2012) XPG and XPF endonucleases trigger chromatin looping and DNA demethylation for accurate expression of activated genes. *Mol. Cell*, 47, 622–632.
- Chen,Z.X. and Riggs,A.D. (2011) DNA methylation and demethylation in mammals. J. Biol. Chem., 286, 18347–18353.
 Sen,G.L., Reuter,J.A., Webster,D.E., Zhu,L. and Khavari,P.A.
- Sen,G.L., Reuter,J.A., Webster,D.E., Zhu,L. and Khavari,P.A. (2010) DNMT1 maintains progenitor function in self-renewing somatic tissue. *Nature*, 463, 563–567.
- Radulescu, I., Elmroth, K. and Stenerlöw, B. (2004) Chromatin organization contributes to non-randomly distributed doublestrand breaks after exposure to high-LET radiation. *Radiat. Res.*, 16, 1–8.
- Citterio, E., Papait, R., Nicassio, F., Vecchi, M., Gomiero, P., Mantovani, R., Di Fiore, P.P. and Bonapace, I.M. (2004) Np95 is a histone-binding protein endowed with ubiquitin ligase activity. *Mol. Cell Biol.*, 24, 2526–2535.